# REVERSAL OF THYROID DEDIFFERENTIATION AND AN INVASIVE PHENOTYPE BY SMALL MOLECULE KINASE INHIBITORS:

# AN EXPERIMENTAL STUDY ON NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS

CAMILLA INGESON CARLSSON



# UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Sahlgrenska Cancer Center Institute of Biomedicine Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg Sweden

ISBN 978-91-628-8855-8

http://hdl.handle.net/2077/34070

© Camilla Ingeson Carlsson, 2013 Institute of Biomedicine Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg

Printed by Kompendiet Aidla Trading AB Gothenburg, Sweden 2013

Till morfar Rurik

'But I don't want to go among mad people, 'Alice remarked.
'Oh, you can't help that, ' said the Cat: 'we're all mad here. I'm mad. You're mad. '
'How do you know I'm mad?' said Alice.
'You must be, ' said the Cat, 'or you wouldn't have come here.

# Lewis Carrol - Alice's Adventures in Wonderland

## **REVERSAL OF THYROID DEDIFFERENTIATION AND AN INVASIVE PHENOTYPE BY SMALL MOLECULE KINASE INHIBITORS:**

# AN EXPERIMENTAL STUDY ON NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS

# **Camilla Ingeson Carlsson**

Sahlgrenska Cancer Center, Institute of Biomedicine, Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg, Sweden

#### Abstract

Refractoriness to I-131 in dedifferentiated thyroid cancer is a great concern that restricts radioiodine therapy. There is also a lack of knowledge in understanding the mechanisms leading to repressed sodium iodide symporter (NIS) expression and impaired iodide uptake in tumor cells. With this background, *paper I* investigated how NIS and iodide transport in normal thyrocytes were affected during dedifferentiation induced by epidermal growth factor (EGF). This was done on highly differentiated thyroid epithelial cells cultured in low (0.5%) or high (5%) content of fetal bovine serum either on filter in bicameral inserts or embedded in 3D collagen gel. EGF abolished TSH-stimulated transcription of *NIS* in both type of cultures. U0126, a MEK inhibitor, reversed this effect but only in serum-starved 2D cultures. Inhibition of MAPK signaling failed to recover NIS-mediated iodide uptake in the presence of serum and in 3D-cultured follicles irrespective of serum. In contrast, EGF-induced down-regulation of thyroglobulin, the thyroid prohormone, was blocked by MEK inhibition. These findings suggest an additional mechanism besides the classical MAPK signaling that negatively regulates NIS and confer resistance to small molecule kinase inhibitors targeting the MAPK pathway in dedifferentiated thyroid cells.

In tumor progression cancer cells lose the ancestral epithelial phenotype and become invasive. Many mechanisms cooperate in this process including joint signaling of the MAPK and PI3K/AKT pathways, suggesting combined targeted treatment with kinase inhibitors would more effectively counteract invasiveness. This possibility was addressed in *paper II* in which cell migration into extracellular matrix from EGF-stimulated follicles was monitored during treatment with inhibitors of MEK (U0126) and PI3K (LY294002). Indeed, dual inhibition was required to prevent both cell proliferation and migration in response to EGF. Notably, single inhibition of PI3K adversely increased EGF-induced migration and invasion, probably by promoting disintegration of the follicular epithelium. As LY294002 did not compromise cell survival in the presence of EGF these findings call for caution in use of PI3K inhibitors as monotherapy of tumors with a constitutively activated MAPK pathway.

Activating BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutation is a common driver in thyroid cancer. Acquired drug resistance involving rebound activation of MAPK signaling restricts the promising possibility to treat BRAF mutant tumors with kinase-selective inhibitors as PLX4720. Combined drug treatment to overcome this is suggested. In *paper III* inhibitor efficacy on tumor cell migration was investigated in BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutant cell lines derived from papillary (BCPAP) and anaplastic (SW1736) thyroid cancer. Besides conventional scratch wounding a double-layered collagen gel model was developed for analysis of directed tumor cell invasion during prolonged culture. Both PLX4720 and U0126 inhibited BCPAP cell migration and reduced tumor cell viability in 3D culture. 2D migration of SW1736 cells resisted even combined drug treatment, whereas embedded in collagen gel both drugs reduced the invading cell numbers. However, dual inhibition of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> and MEK did not prevent invasion although rebound activation of MAPK was blocked. This suggests presence of highly invasive tumor cell subclones in anaplastic cancer that escape targeted drug therapy due to MAPK independence.

**Keywords:** *Thyroid, cancer, NIS, MAPK, PI3K, BRAF*<sup>V600E</sup>, *migration, 3D culture* 

ISBN 978-91-628-8855-8 http://hdl.handle.net/2077/34070 Gothenburg 2013

# **List of Publications**

The thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their roman numerals.

# I. Ingeson Carlsson C, Nilsson M

Switching from MAPK-dependent to MAPK-independent repression of the sodium-iodide symporter in 2D and 3D cultured normal thyroid cells *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2013 Dec 5;381(1-2):241-54

# II. Ingeson Carlsson C, Nilsson M

Dual contribution of MAPK and PI3K in epidermal growth factor-induced destabilization of thyroid follicular integrity and invasion of cells into extracellular matrix

Manuscript (submitted)

# III. Ingeson Carlsson C, Nilsson M

Differential effects of MAPK pathway inhibitors on migration and invasiveness of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutant thyroid cancer cells in 2D and 3D culture *Manuscript* 

Paper I was reprinted with permission from Elsevier and Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology.

# **Table of Contents**

The Thyroid Gland	1
Epithelial Properties	2
Tight junctions	2
Occludin	3
Claudins	3
ZO-1	4
Adherens junction and E-cadherin	4
Desmosomes	5
Functional Properties	5
Iodide transport and NIS	6
Thyroglobulin and thyroid hormone formation	8
Differentiation signals	9
TSH	9
IGF-1	10
Dedifferentiation signals	11
EGF	11
TGF-beta	12
MAPK Signaling Pathway	13
PI3K/AKT Signaling Pathway	14
Thyroid Cancer	15
Genetic alteration in thyroid cancer	16
RET/PTC rearrangements	16
BRAF <sup>V600E</sup> mutation	16
RAS mutations	17
EGFR amplification	17
PI3KCA mutations	17
PTEN alterations	17
$Pax8-PPAR\gamma$	18
TP53 mutations	18
Small Molecule Kinase Inhibitors	18
U0126 directed against MEK	18
LY294002 directed against PI3K	19
PLX4720 directed against mutated BRAF	19
Experimental Models of Thursid Concer	20
Genetically modified mice	<b>40</b> 20
Cell lines	20
Primary cell culture	21

Aims of the Thesis	23
Paper I: Recovery of NIS expression by inhibition of MEK	23
Paper II: Inhibition of thyroid cell migration	
by MEK and PI3K inhibitors	23
Paper III: Inhibition of thyroid cancer cell invasion	
by BRAF <sup>V600E</sup> and MEK inhibitors	23
Methodological Considerations	24
Isolation of porcine thyroid follicles	24
Selection of thyroid cancer cell lines	24
2D and 3D culture	24
Iodide transport and iodination	25
NIS mRNA expression	26
Analysis of phosphorylated ERK1/2 or AKT	26
Cell proliferation and survival	26
Migration and invasion assays	27
Fluorescence microscopy in 3D culture	27
Results and Discussion	29
Concluding Remarks	37
Regarding thyroid dedifferentiation:	37
Regarding thyroid cell migration:	37
Regarding thyroid cancer cell invasion:	37
Acknowledgements	38
References	39

Abbreviations	
AC	adenylate cyclase
AJ	adherens junction
ATC	anaplastic thyroid cancer
cAMP	3'5' cyclic adenosine monophosphate
DAG	diacylglycerol
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride
DIT	3,5'-diiodotyrosine
DTC	differentiated thyroid cancer
Duox1	dual oxidase1
Duox2	dual oxidase 2
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	epithelial to mesenchymal transition
ERK1/2	extracellular signal-related kinase 1/2
FTC	follicular thyroid cancer
GAP	guanosine activating protein
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GEF	guanine nucleotide exchange factor
Grb2	growth factor receptor binding protein 2
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
GTPase	guanosine triphosphatase
IGF-1	insulin growth factor 1
IGF-R	insuling growth factor receptor
IP <sub>3</sub>	inositol triphosphate
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCT8	monocarboxylate transporter 8
MIT	3-iodotyrosine
МКК	MAPK kinase
МККК	MAPK kinase kinase
MMI	methimazole
MTC	medullary thyroid cancer
NIS	sodium iodide symporter
Pax8	paired box gene 8
PD	Potential difference
PDK1	phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1
PDTC	poorly differentiated thyroid cancer
PI3K	phosphoinositide-3 kinase
РКА	protein kinase A
PLC	phospholipase C
ΡΡΑRγ	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor $\gamma$
PTC	papillary thyroid cancer
PTEN	phosphatase tensin homolog
RSK	ribosomal S6 kinase
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
SH2	Src homology 2
SH3	Src homology 3
SOS1	sevenless homologue 1
T <sub>3</sub>	triiodothyronine
$T_4$	tetraiodothyronine

TER	transepithelial resistance
TG	thyroglobulin
TGFβ	transforming growth factor beta
TJ	tight junction
TPO	thyroperoxidase
TR	thyroid hormone receptor
TRH	thyrotropin-releasing hormone
TSH	thyroid stimulating hormone
TSHR	thyrotropin stimulation hormone receptor
TTF1	thyroid transcription factor 1
TTF2	thyroid transcription factor 2
ΤβR-Ι	TGF beta receptor type I
ΤβR-ΙΙ	TGF beta receptor type II
ZO-1	zonula occludens 1

#### The Thyroid Gland

The endocrine thyroid gland is located in the anterior neck. It consists of two lobes, left and right, on either side of trachea and connected to each other by the isthmus. There are several cell types found in the gland with approximately 70% of the total cell count composed of thyroid epithelial cells or the thyrocytes. Other frequent cells are fibroblasts and the endothelial cells forming the many capillaries in this highly vascularized organ. There are also a small number of parafollicular C cells (Dumont et al., 1992). The principal function of the thyroid gland is to produce and release thyroid hormones. Thyroid hormones, tetraiodothyronine  $(T_4)$  and the biologically more active triiodithyronine  $(T_3)$ , are important for developmental growth and metabolism. T<sub>3</sub> acts through binding to thyroid hormone receptors (TRs) present in the nucleus of target cells thereby regulating gene transcription. Most cells in vertebrates are sensitive to thyroid hormones, although the effects vary considerably in between for example neurons, heart muscle and liver (Boelaert and Franklyn, 2005). The hormones are synthesized by the thyrocytes, which are organized in spherical structures, the follicles. These units are comprised of a single layer of follicular cells surrounding a lumen in which a protein enriched fluid, the colloid, is stored. The major constituent of the colloid is thyroglobulin (TG), the prohormone of  $T_3$  and  $T_4$ , which will be more extensively discussed in later sections. The C cells, which produce calcitonin, are not investigated in this thesis and will not be discussed in more detail.



Fig. 1. Overview of the location and follicular organization of the thyroid gland in humans.

Thyrocytes differ from most endocrine cells in that they have features strongly reminiscent of secretory, exocrine cells. This includes a polarized plasma membrane that can be clearly divided into an apical and a basolateral domain with different constituent proteins residing there. The divergence in protein composition is maintained by intracellular sorting mechanisms (Rodriguez-Boulan and Nelson, 1989). Furthermore, the apical-basal polarity of epithelial cells is not only restricted to protein composition in the plasma membrane but is also manifested in the cells having a polarized distribution of organelles and also by way of specialized morphological features that can be found only on one side of the cell for example microvilli or pseudopods are present exclusively apically in thyroid cells. One additional feature of epithelial cells is the connections between the cells through different intercellular junctions. These includes tight junctions, adherens junctions and desmosomes originally described 50 years ago (Farquhar and Palade, 1963).

# **Epithelial Properties**

The junctional features of the thyroid follicular epithelium are important regarding both structural organization of the follicle and the functional properties of individual thyroid cells. As both features were studied in papers I and II, it is relevant to describe some of these aspects in more detail.

#### **Tight junctions**

Tight junction (TJ) is the most apically localized junction and hence establishes a border between the basolateral and the apical parts of the cells (Farquhar and Palade, 1963). TJ can be said to have both a gate and a fence function. The gate feature arises from the importance of TJ in the regulation of paracellular passage of water, ion and molecules while the fence function is reflected by the role in maintaining the different protein and lipid composition in the apical and basolateral domains of the plasma membrane. Several proteins, both integral membrane and cytoplasmic, have been identified in the TJ complex. In the following sections the most prominent TJ proteins will be briefly overviewed. More comprehensive reviews of other TJ proteins for example tricellulin, PAR proteins, MUPP1, cingulin and symplekin etc., can be found in (Gonzalez-Mariscal et al., 2003; Gunzel and Fromm, 2012).

#### Occludin

The first TJ integral membrane protein discovered was occludin (Furuse et al., 1993). Occludin has four transmembrane regions, two extracellular loops and amino and carboxyl terminal end being found on the intracellular side. Despite the fact that its presence in TJ is apparent, the precise role is still unclear. This is especially emphasized by the fact that in occludin-deficient mice many epithelial organs and tissues still develop TJ (Saitou et al., 2000). Occludin can bind directly to F-actin through interaction with the carboxyl terminal end (Wittchen et al., 1999) a feature that differs from the other integral membrane TJ proteins that need adaptor proteins for the connection to the cytoskeleton. Occludin is expressed in thyrocytes (Grande et al., 2002).

#### Claudins

Another class of transmembrane proteins in the TJ is the claudin family first identified in 1998 (Furuse et al., 1998). Claudins are now considered to be the essential structural part in the TJ strands to which the other integral proteins on neighboring cells are associated in a homotypic fashion. So far, 27 mammalian claudin genes have been identified (Mineta et al., 2011) although there is a disagreement about whether the last three members reported should be classified as claudins (Maher et al., 2011). Claudins can interact through their extracellular loops with other claudins in the same membrane through *cis*-interactions and with claudins expressed by adjacent cells through trans-interactions. This leads to the formation of a zipperlike structure that contributes to the barrier (Piontek et al., 2008). Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) commonly used in epithelial cell research consists of two strains with different expression patterns of claudins. The high-resistance type I cells express claudin-1 and claudin-4 while type II cells with leaky TJ also express claudin-2. Introduction of claudin-2 in type I cells caused the TJ to be leakier indicating that combinations and mixing ratios of different claudins give rise to variable tightness of the TJ (Furuse et al., 2001). The importance of claudins in the gate function of TJ is also demonstrated in vivo in claudin-1 deficient mice in which the affected epidermal barrier causes dehydration and early death due to excessive water loss (Furuse et al., 2002). Notably, thyroid epithelial cells, which establish a very tight epithelium reflecting the importance of keeping the follicle lumen secluded from the extra-follicular space, express claudin-1 (Grande et al., 2002).

#### ZO-1

ZO-1, named after the Latin word *zonula occludens* for TJ, was the first TJ protein to be identified in 1986 (Stevenson et al., 1986), and later on also ZO-2 (Jesaitis and Goodenough, 1994) and ZO-3 (Haskins et al., 1998) were identified. All three of them are cytoplasmatic proteins belonging to a protein family named membrane-associated guanylate kinase homologues or MAGUK. These proteins have structurally conserved PDZ, SH3 and GK domains. The PDZ domain is important for clustering and anchoring of transmembrane proteins (Kim et al., 1995) and proteins with several PDZ domains can function as a scaffold to bring different proteins together at a specific submembraneous location. ZO-1 has three PDZ domains, the first is associated with claudins (Itoh et al., 1999) and the other two bind to junctional adhesion molecules (JAM) representing yet another class of proteins found in TJ (Ebnet et al., 2000). In addition, ZO-1 is associated with occludin through the GK domain (Fanning et al., 1998; Schmidt et al., 2001) and to F-actin through its carboxyl-terminal end (Fanning et al., 1998; Itoh et al., 1997; Wittchen et al., 1999). As excellently reviewed by Tsukita (Tsukita et al., 2009), one of the leading scientists in this field, ZO-1 in joint action with ZO-2 serve as important organizers that are both required and sufficient for TJ formation and establishment of a paracellular barrier. In addition, ZO-1 interacts with cytoplasmatic proteins functioning in signal transduction and in regulation of gene expression by binding to the transcription factor ZO-1-associated nucleic acid-binding protein or ZONAB (Balda and Matter, 2000). Interestingly, ZONAB was later shown to be involved in regulation of proliferation epithelial cells (Balda et al., 2003). In paper II ZO-1 was used as a TJ marker to reveal the junctional complex that delimits the lumen in cultured thyroid follicles.

#### Adherens junction and E-cadherin

There are several types of adherens junctions (AJ), the one most studied in polarized epithelia is *zonula adherens* that encircles the cell completely like a belt at the apical/basolateral border located basal to the TJ (Farquhar and Palade, 1963). AJ consist of two protein complexes, the cadherin-catenin complex and the nectin-afadin complex. Both consist of a transmembrane adhesion molecule with an extracellular domain that interacts with corresponding molecules across the intercellular cleft and a group of cytoplasmic proteins that bind to the intracellular domain and connect it to the actin cytoskeleton. The superfamily of cadherins is responsible for calcium-dependent cell-cell adhesion and E-cadherin found in epithelial cells belongs the subfamily of classical cadherins (Nollet et al., 2000).  $Ca^{2+}$  binding to ectodomains in the

extracellular part of classical cadherins conveys a conformational change (Pokutta et al., 1994), which enables cis-dimerization between corresponding cadherin molecules on neighboring cells (Shapiro et al., 1995) and gradually builds up a structure resembling a zipper that provides strength to the AJ (Yap and Manley, 2001). The intracellular domain of E-cadherin binds to several members of the catenin family, i.e. p120 catenin (p120<sup>ctn</sup>) (Reynolds et al., 1994), β-catenin and γ-catenin (Ozawa et al., 1989). Furthermore, α-catenin is also associated with the complex (Ozawa et al., 1989), although its interaction with E-cadherin is mediated by the binding to either β- or γ-catenin and thus not directly to E-cadherin itself (Aberle et al., 1994). β-Catenin is also involved in canonical Wnt signaling in which β-catenin translocates to the cell nucleus and trans-activates target genes involved in cell growth and survival (Valenta et al., 2012). The Wnt- β-catenin pathway may also regulate thyroid cells (Helmbrecht et al., 2001).

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a fundamental biological process implicated in embryonic development, tissue repair and in association with tumor progression and metastasis (Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009). Loss of E-cadherin is a key feature and hallmark of EMT (Thiery, 2002). This aspect of E-cadherin was investigated along with observations of functional dedifferentiation in paper I of the thesis.

#### Desmosomes

Desmosomes comprise the third junction complex found in epithelial cells, although variants of this adhesive structure are shared by many other cell types. The adhesion molecules of desmosomes are membrane-spanning, cadherin-like proteins named desmocollins. Cytoplasmic proteins plakophilin and plakoglobin, the latter being identical to  $\gamma$ -catenin, link desmosomal cadherins to desmoplakin that in turn anchor the desmosome to the intermediate filaments of the cytoskeleton (Garrod and Chidgey, 2008). Very little is known of desmosomes in thyroid cells, although it is likely that they cooperate with the AJ in establishing a cohesive follicular epithelium.

# **Functional Properties**

Thyroid cells are highly specialized cells needed for proper execution of the thyroid gland's functions. Conversely, loss of thyroid function leading to dedifferentiation is common in advanced thyroid cancer. In paper I, we were interested in studying thyroid dedifferentiation

in normal cells and the possibility of preventing or reverting the process by drug treatment that interferes with dedifferentiation signals inside the cells. To set the stage for the discussion of findings the next section will shortly summarize the most important elements of thyroid function and its normal regulation.

#### **Iodide transport and NIS**

Iodine is essential for normal thyroid function, being incorporated in the thyroid hormones. The anion species of iodine, iodide or  $\Gamma$ , is concentrated 40-fold or more in the thyroid due to an active transport mechanism originally named the "iodide pump" (Wolff, 1964). Studies on mice thyroid (Andros and Wollman, 1967), and later on in cultured cells using a bicameral culture model that enabled monitoring of polarized transport (Chambard et al., 1983; Nilsson et al., 1990) provided direct evidence that thyroidal iodide uptake occurs basolaterally, long before the molecular nature of the transporting protein was identified. In the same bicameral system it was also shown that transcellular transport of iodide depends on a second, apical efflux mechanism (Nilsson et al., 1990), hence, it is a two-step process.

In 1996, the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) responsible for the basolateral uptake was cloned and characterized from FRTL5 cells, a differentiated rat thyroid cell line (Dai et al., 1996) followed by cloning of the gene also in human (Smanik et al., 1996), mouse (Perron et al., 2001; Pinke et al., 2001) and pig thyroid cells (Selmi-Ruby et al., 2003). Notably, porcine NIS (pNIS) investigated in thesis paper I consists of two transcripts generated by alternative splicing instead of a single mRNA as in human, rat or mouse. The most abundant transcript of *pNIS* encodes a 643 amino acid protein with 85% identity to the human NIS. The reason for alternative splicing is not known (Selmi-Ruby et al., 2003). During NIS-mediated transport two sodium ions and one iodide ion are co-transported (Eskandari et al., 1997). The mechanism depends on Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase, also localized in the basolateral membrane (Gerard et al., 1985), which generates the driving sodium gradient. NIS is also capable of transporting several other anions that competitively may inhibit iodide uptake (Dohan et al., 2007). Loss of NIS expression is frequent in thyroid cancer and this will be discussed further in a later section.

While consensus prevails concerning NIS as the one and only basolateral iodide transporter, the identity of the apical transporter is more uncertain. A suggested candidate is the chloride

transporting protein pendrin, which is expressed apically in thyroid cells (Bidart et al., 2000; Royaux et al., 2000). Pendrin or SLC26A4 is encoded by Pendred syndrome (PDS) gene, and biallelic mutation of this gene causes Pendred syndrome, an autosomal recessive disorder characterized by deafness, goiter and a partial defect in iodine organification (Bizhanova and Kopp, 2011). Apical efflux is stimulated by thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) (Nilsson et al., 1990), the main regulator of thyroid function, and it was recently shown that pendrin translocates to the membrane in response to TSH in PCCL3 rat thyroid cells suggesting a potential role in thyroid hormone synthesis (Pesce et al., 2012). However, since the majority of patients with Pendred syndrome either are euthyroid or have a mild hypothyroidism that may get worse only in iodine deficiency (Sato et al., 2001) it is likely that the apical efflux of iodide in thyroid cells is not only mediated by pendrin. Another proposed candidate is SLC5A8, also named human apical iodide transporter (hAIT) (Rodriguez et al., 2002), although it was later shown that this protein does not transport iodide (Paroder et al., 2006). Nevertheless, apical efflux is important to consider when evaluating cellular retention of radioiodine in experimental settings after tumor therapy with I-131.



**Fig.2.** The polarized thyroid epithelial phenotype. Key molecules involved in different steps of thyroid hormonogenesis are differentially located in the basolateral and apical plasma membrane domains.

#### Thyroglobulin and thyroid hormone formation

Thyroid hormone biosynthesis is a complicated process that involves several independent steps and factors. In the following section the most important of these will be discussed. As already mentioned, TG can be thought of as a prohormone to  $T_3$  and  $T_4$ . It is a very large dimeric glycoprotein (MW 660 kDa), the synthesis of which is governed by Nkx2-1 (formerly thyroid transcription factor-1 or TTF-1), Foxn1 (formerly thyroid transcription factor-2 or TTF-2) and Pax-8 that ensure thyroid specificity of expression (Damante and Di Lauro, 1994; Zannini et al., 1997). After synthesis of the peptide chains in the endoplasmic reticulum and glycosylation in Golgi, mature but yet un-iodinated TG is transported in vesicles to the apical cell surface where it is released into the follicle lumen by exocytosis. Iodination of TG is catalyzed by thyroperoxidase (TPO) located in the apical membrane facing the lumen. TPO converts  $\Gamma$  to an oxidized iodine species that covalently binds to tyrosyl residues in TG thus producing 3-iodotyrosine (MIT) and 3,5'-diiodotyrosine (DIT). In the following coupling reactions, also requiring TPO activity, T<sub>4</sub> and T<sub>3</sub> are formed from two DIT or one DIT and one MIT, respectively (Dunn and Dunn, 2001; Ekholm, 1990). The oxidation reactions require H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> that is produced by dual oxidase I and 2 (DUOX1 and DUOX2) also presented in the apical membrane (De Deken et al., 2002; Dupuy et al., 1991). Since  $H_2O_2$  is potentially cytotoxic there is a need of a protective mechanism that degrades excess  $H_2O_2$ . The intracellular level of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is kept low by glutathione peroxidase which also prevents intracellular iodination (Ekholm and Bjorkman, 1997). In addition, thioredoxin reductase has also been suggested to regulate intracellular H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and prevent H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis (Kim et al., 2000).

TG with its iodo-amino acid residues incorporated in the peptide chains is stored in the lumen until there is a need of hormone release. This process starts with internalization of TG executed by both micropinocytic vesicles and macropinocytosis, the latter through the formation of so called pseudopods that project from the apical cell surface in to the colloid (Ericson, 1981). Internalized TG can take two different pathways. The most prominent route involves fusion of TG-containing vesicles with early endosomes followed by proteolysis in secondary lysosomes (Bernier-Valentin et al., 1990). T<sub>4</sub> may be deiodinated to T<sub>3</sub> already in the thyroid. However, most T<sub>4</sub> enters the blood stream and will be converted to T<sub>3</sub> in peripheral tissues (Chanoine et al., 1993). The mechanism by which free thyroid hormones are released from the cytoplasm is not fully understood but mononocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8), originally identified as a specific thyroid hormone transporter in target organs as liver, kidney, brain and heart (Friesema et al., 2003) was recently found to be involved in the export of thyroid hormones from the thyroid gland in mice (Di Cosmo et al., 2010). The second mechanism of TG transport is the direct basolateral release of intact TG in a process called transcytosis and this probably explains the presence of circulating TG in blood (Romagnoli and Herzog, 1991). The turnover of TG under the influence of dedifferentiation stimuli (epidermal growth factor) was evaluated in paper I.

#### **Differentiation signals**

#### TSH

TSH or thyrotropin is the main regulator of thyroid function. It is secreted from the anterior pituitary gland in response to thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) produced in the hypothalamus (Persani, 1998) and regulated by a negative feedback mechanism through circulating thyroid hormones. Thus, a hypothyroid state reactively leads to increasing TSH levels that stimulate the gland even more. This effect involves many aspects of thyroid function collectively contributing to increased hormone biosynthesis. One of the first characterized TSH-regulated functions was iodide trapping *in vivo* (Halmi, 1954). It is now known that an increased expression of NIS is primarily responsible for this effect as shown both *in vitro* and in animal models (Levy et al., 1997; Saito et al., 1997). In addition, TSH stimulates the expression of TG (Roger et al., 1985), apical efflux of iodide (Nilsson et al., 1990), iodination (Ekholm and Wollman, 1975), internalization of iodinated TG (Ericson, 1981) and thyroid hormone release (Dumont et al., 1971).

TSH acts by binding to the TSH receptor (TSHR) present in the basolateral membrane of the follicle cells (Chambard et al., 1983). TSHR is a G protein-coupled receptor (Libert et al., 1989) that signals through activation of both  $G_s$  and  $G_q$  (Allgeier et al., 1994).  $G_s$  stimulates adenylate cyclase (AC) that will increase 3'5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), which in turn activates protein kinase A (PKA) (Dumont et al., 1971).  $G_q$  stimulates phospholipas C (PLC) (Jhon et al., 1993), which stimulates hydrolysis of phosphoinositide to inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol (DAG) that increase the concentration of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and activates protein kinase C, respectively. Significant species specific differences have been pointed out when it comes to the underlying signaling mechanisms of the TSH response in thyrocytes (Song et al., 2010). For example, in dog cells TSH stimulates activation of the cAMP pathway leading to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production while this occurs through Ca<sup>2+</sup>– DAG signaling in human or pig cells (Song et al., 2010).

TSH stimulates thyroid cell proliferation most evidently resulting in goiter development in conditions where circulation TSH is chronically elevated (in hypothyroidism) or in the presence of stimulating autoantibodies against TSHR (in Graves' disease). TSH can function as a mitogen either through cAMP pathway (Deleu et al., 1999; Dremier et al., 2002) or indirectly through its permissive action on peptide growth factors (Kimura et al., 2001). In pig thyroid cells used in this thesis (papers I and II), TSH is not mitogenic (Gartner et al., 1985).

TSH was previously shown to promote the epithelial integrity of porcine thyrocytes when Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent cell-cell adhesion was abrogated (Nilsson et al., 1991). The mechanism involves stabilization of E-cadherin binding that prevents its premature degradation (Larsson et al., 2004), although TSH may also stimulate the expression of E-cadherin at the transcriptional level (Brabant et al., 1995). Thus, TSH appears to be required to establish firm adhesion between thyroid epithelial cells and that this probably is important to secure cohesiveness of the follicular wall and prevent unwanted leakage of luminal content. TSH stimulation was, therefore, routinely used in the investigation of growth factor effects in this thesis work.

#### IGF-1

Insulin and insulin like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) exert moderate proliferative effects that are permissive to the action of TSH in human thyrocytes (Roger et al., 1988). The need of concomitant signaling of TSH and the IGF-1 signaling pathway for goiter formation was recently shown in mice with conditional deletion of the IGF-I receptor (IGF-1R) (Ock et al., 2013). However, over-expression of IGF-1, IGF-R or both, increased thyroidal iodide uptake while at the same time circulating TSH levels decreased, indicating that IGF-1 promotes thyroid function *in vivo* (Clement et al., 2001). Earlier studies on pig thyroid cells showed that IGF-1 in the absence of TSH stimulates only mildly iodide transport whereas in its presence iodide transport is highly potentiated (Ericson and Nilsson, 1996).

IGF-IR is a heterotetramer consisting of two ligand binding alfa subunits being completely extracellular and two transmembrane beta subunits each containing a tyrosine kinase domain in the cytoplasmic portion. After ligand binding, the activated receptor is autophosphorylated leading to phosphorylation of several target proteins of which insulin receptor substrate-1 and 2 (IRS-1 and 2), which function as docking sites for SH-2 containing proteins such as PI3K, are of particular importance. Phosphorylated IRS-1 also acts as a docking site for Grb-2,

which upon activation binds RAS and initiates MAPK signaling. However, IGF-1R can influence multiple intracellular pathways that partly explain the many functions of IGF-1 in cells and tissues (LeRoith et al., 1995). IGF-1 was not used in this thesis, but fetal serum contains significant amounts of IGF-1 which makes it a relevant molecule to consider.

#### **Dedifferentiation signals**

#### EGF

Epidermal growth factor (EGF), one of the most well-studied peptide growth factors ever, was first isolated from mouse submaxillary gland and found to have a stimulatory effect on the proliferation of epidermal keratinocytes (Cohen, 1962; Cohen and Elliott, 1963). EGF is a 53 amino acid protein that belongs to a family of growth factors that also includes transforming growth factor- $\alpha$  (TGF- $\alpha$ ), heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF), betacellulin, amphiregulin, neuregulin, epigen and epiregulin. These proteins are ligands to members of the EGF receptor (EGFR) or ErbB receptor family comprising, apart from EGFR, erbB2/Her2, erbB3/Her3 and erbB4/Her, all of which share a common structure with an extracellular ligand-binding domain and an intracellular receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) domain. EGF binding triggers EGFR homo- or heterodimerization and autophosphorylation, which is mediated by the RTK domain that will also function as docking site for different proteins further down in the signaling pathway, (Burgess, 2008). This will be described in more detail in a separate section below.

In the thyroid, the mitogenic effect of EGF was first shown in sheep (Westermark and Westermark, 1982) and later confirmed in other species as dog, pig and human. Besides causing stimulation of thyroid cell proliferation, EGF is a powerful antagonist to TSH-stimulated thyroid function including down-regulation of TG and TPO expression (Kasai et al., 1989; Pratt et al., 1989; Roger et al., 1985) and loss of iodide trapping capacity (Bourke et al., 1991; Pratt et al., 1989; Waters et al., 1987). Cultured in presence of EGF, dog thyrocytes lose both the responsiveness to TSH and cAMP-mediated stimulation of proliferation (Roger et al., 1992). Together, this argues that EGF is a major dedifferentiation factor with potential implications in the pathophysiology of thyroid proliferative diseases as hypothyroid goiter (Pedrinola et al., 2001) and thyroid cancer (Knauf, 2011). In fact, stimulation of human thyrocytes with EGF in the presence of serum confers a profound change in global gene expression that mimics the expression profile found in papillary thyroid cancer (Hebrant et al., 2007). EGF also promotes the development of EMT elicited by TGF-beta in primary porcine

thyroid cells (Grande et al., 2002). It should be noted, however, that in the absence of other EMT inducers, EGF treatment does not seriously inflict on the thyroid epithelial phenotype, despite a strong stimulation of cell proliferation and migration. For example, porcine thyroid cells cultured in a collagen matrix form new follicles when stimulated with EGF (Westermark et al., 1991) and in monolayer cultures in bicameral chambers the epithelial barrier is preserved, although at the same time, TSH-stimulated iodide transport is repressed by EGF (Nilsson and Ericson, 1994). In papers I and II of this thesis EGF was used to dedifferentiate both functionally and structurally pig thyroid cells in 2D and 3D culture, which was further investigated for the potential use of small molecule kinase inhibitors against key components of EGFR signaling pathways to prevent the effect.

#### TGF-beta

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) belongs to a superfamily of cytokines involved in many different cellular processes implicated in growth, differentiation and survival of various cell types (Heldin et al., 1997). TGF- $\beta$  consists of three different isoforms, TGF- $\beta$ 1 (Derynck et al., 1985) TGF-B2 (de Martin et al., 1987) and TGF-B3 (Derynck et al., 1988) of which TGF- $\beta$ 1 is mostly studied. A common feature of TGF- $\beta$  family receptors is signaling through a serine/threonine kinase domain. TGF- $\beta$  binds to type II receptor (T $\beta$ R-II) that recruits and phosphorylates the type I receptor (T $\beta$ R-I) (Wrana et al., 1994). The major signaling pathway of the activated TGF-B receptor involves SMAD proteins that are stimulated to enter the nucleus and after formation of a complex with co-repressors or co-activators gene expression is either turned on or off (Massague, 2000). TGF-B stimulation of normal epithelial cells causes growth inhibition and this is also true for thyroid cells (Taton et al., 1993). The pleiotropic effects of TGF- $\beta$  signaling aside of growth regulation are very diverse and depend on the cell type and the context. Growth arrest and induction of apoptosis are responsible for the tumor suppressive effects of TGF- $\beta$  (Inman, 2011). However, TGF- $\beta$  also has tumor promoting effects in advanced cancer and is one of the most powerful stimuli of EMT typically manifested by loss of E-cadherin expression and acquirement of motile phenotype (Heldin et al., 2012). EMT makes the tumor cells invade and metastasize, hallmarks of disseminated cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011).

As already mentioned, in pig thyroid cells TGF- $\beta$ 1 in synergy with EGF, induces EMT leading to loss of epithelial integrity, loss of E-cadherin and gain of N-cadherin expression

(Grande et al., 2002). TGF- $\beta$  was not investigated directly but its involvement in EMT makes it relevant to mention.

## **MAPK Signaling Pathway**

Further interest in EGF-induced growth and dedifferentiation is due to its major downstream mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway, which comprises several protooncogenes and is constitutively activated in many malignant tumors. The canonical MAPK pathway consists of four cascades classified according to the last protein in each arm, that is extracellular signal-related kinases 1 and 2 (ERK1/2), c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) 1, 2 and 3, p38-MAPK and ERK5. Peptide growth factor receptors are mainly regulators of the ERK1/2 cascade whereas JNK and p38-MAPK is activated by different cellular stress stimuli, but there is also evidence of crosstalks between the different MAPK pathways (Pritchard and Hayward, 2013). All four cascades consist of a central core of three kinases being activated in sequence: MAPK kinase kinase (MKKK), MAPK kinase (MKK) and MAPK. Thus, in a series of amplifying threonine and tyrosine phosphorylations MKKK activates MKK that in turn triggers the effector kinase, ERK1/2 in the case of EGFR signaling (Yang et al., 2013). The identity of the kinases in the linear signaling pathway is unique for each cascade (Pritchard and Hayward, 2013). In this thesis particular interest is focused on the MAPK pathway downstream of EGFR, which will be described in more detail.

A systematic study of the phosphotyrosine interactome demonstrated that EGFR has several different binding partners including growth factor receptor binding protein 2 (Grb2). Grb2 contains Src homology 2 (SH2) and 3 (SH3) domains that provide a link between the receptor and the guanine nucleotide exchanges factors (GEFs) i.e. son of sevenless homologue 1 and 2 (SOS1, SOS2) (Lowenstein et al., 1992). Guanosine triphosphatases (GTPases), RAS in the case of ERK1/2 pathway, play a crucial role in signal transduction. When bound to guanosine diphosphate (GDP) the GTPase is inactive but with the assistance of GEFs, GDP dissociates from the GTPase allowing the binding of guanosine triphosphate (GTP) by which the GTPase is activated. Further on, the GTPase enters an inactive state through hydrolysation of GTP to GDP which is facilitated by guanosine activating proteins (GAPs) (Cherfils and Zeghouf, 2013).

The RAS family of small GTPases consists of three isoforms: HRAS, KRAS and NRAS. Upon activation RAS proteins interact with various effectors including PI3K, Af6, PKCζ and RAF, which takes part in many cellular processes including growth, survival and migration (Rajalingam et al., 2007). MKKK activated by RAS also consists of three proteins, ARAF, BRAF and CRAF of which BRAF is most easily activated and also has a higher basal kinase activity than the other two members of the family (Wellbrock et al., 2004). All three RAFs can activate MKK, the MEK1/2 kinases, which are the only widely accepted RAF substrate (Matallanas et al., 2011). ERK1/2 in turn is the only known substrate MEK1/2. However, after this point the signaling cascade diverges to many different effector mechanisms as illustrated by the fact that more than 160 substrates to ERK1/2 exist (Yoon and Seger, 2006) and even more candidates have been suggested (Courcelles et al., 2013). ERK1/2 substrates include nuclear targets (e.g c-fos and c-jun), substrates belonging to the ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK) family and cytoskeletal proteins (e.g paxillin). There are also MAPK phosphatases with the potential to dephosphorylate and thereby modulate the amplitude and duration of MAPK signaling. These can either be specific to tyrosine, serine or threonine or possess a dual specificity for both serine and threonine (Roskoski, 2012). MEK inhibition and evaluation of its consequences were a central theme in all papers of this thesis.

# **PI3K/AKT Signaling Pathway**

Another signaling pathway downstream of EGFR is the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway. There are three classes of PI3Ks of which class IA is the most extensively studied. PI3Ks are heterodimers classically composed of a regulatory subunit, p85, comprising five isoforms and a catalytic subunit of which there are three subunits, p110 $\alpha$ , p110 $\beta$  and p110 $\delta$ . The regulatory p85 can bind directly to RTK through the SH2 domain by which PI3K is activated and also translocated to the plasma membrane (Vanhaesebroeck et al., 2012). In addition, PI3K is also a direct substrate to RAS (Sjolander et al., 1991). When activated, class I PI3Ks phosphorylates the inositol ring on the membrane lipid phosphatidylinositol-4-5-bisphosphate  $(PI(4,5)P_2).$ When converted to а phosphatidylinositol-3-4-5-triphosphate ( $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ ) this provides a binding site for downstreams signaling proteins which contains a so called pleckstrin homology (PH) domain. Two important proteins with a PH domain are AKT, also called protein kinase B (PKB), and phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1) (Cantley, 2002). Full activation of AKT requires phosphorylation on two sites, threonine 308 (T308) by PDK1 and serine 473 (S473) by mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (Sarbassov et al., 2005). Termination of PI3K signaling through degradation of  $PI(3,4,5)P_3$  is mediated by phosphatases of which the most important is phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). Dephosphorylation of the 3 position of  $PI(3,4,5)P_3$  by PTEN inactivates AKT and downstream signaling of the pathway (Maehama and Dixon, 1998). Many substrates have been identified downstream of AKT and the pathway appears to involve even more cellular functions than the MAPK pathway, ranging from vital processes in cell metabolism to differentiation of specialized tissues in development also comprising growth and migration. Of particular relevance for the interpretation of data presented in paper II is the role of PI3Ks in epithelial morphogenesis and establishment of epithelial junctions (Rivard, 2009; Shewan et al., 2011).

## **Thyroid Cancer**

Thyroid cancer is the most common endocrine malignancy after ovarian cancer representing approximately 1% of all malignant tumors. As for other diseases of the thyroid gland cancer is more frequent in females, for example, in Sweden 2011 71% of all newly diagnosed cases were women (Socialstyrelsen, 2013). Thyroid cancer is divided in several subtypes depending on the histopathological diagnosis. The most common tumor constituting 80-85% of all thyroid malignancies is papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) derived from follicular cells. PTC together with follicular thyroid cancer (FTC) is collectively called differentiated thyroid cancers (DTC). Poorly differentiated thyroid cancers (PDTC) usually arises by tumor progression of PTC. Anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC) is rare but one of the most aggressive tumors of all in man. Tumor spreading characteristics vary depending on subtype. PTC is subjected to lymphogenic spread to regional lymph nodes in the neck while FTC more often gives rise to distant metastases as in lung, skeleton and brain through hematogenic dissemination. PDTC mostly derived from advanced PTC is locally aggressive with an invasive growth. ATC is highly invasive often with engagement of the trachea or surrounding anatomic structures in the neck and distant metastases are found early (Xing, 2013). Patients suffering from DTC have mostly a very good prognosis and the overall 5-years survival may be as high as 97% (Howlader N). In comparison, ATC is very lethal with a median survival of 5 month and a 1-year survival of less than 20% (Smallridge and Copland, 2010). Treatment of DTC includes thyroidectomy followed by radioiodine therapy (iodine-131), a therapy taking advantage of the natural iodide handling system in the thyrocytes. Hence, PDTC that have lost the capacity of transport and trapping of iodide are refractory to radioiodine treatment and few alternatives of adjuvant treatment exist for this group of patients. Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) derived from C cells is a neuroendocrine tumor. MTC is not a subject in this thesis and will not be further commented on.

#### Genetic alterations in thyroid cancer

Several oncogenic alterations in genes encoding key molecules in growth-promoting signaling pathways are described for the distinct entities of thyroid cancer. In addition, inactivation of tumor suppressor genes is implicated in tumor progression. The most important of these will be briefly described in the following section.

#### **RET/PTC** rearrangements

Approximately 20-40% of sporadic of PTC harbor *RET/PTC* rearrangements, a genetic alteration unique for PTC and caused by fusion of the proto-oncogene *RET* with a partner gene, the identity of which determines further subtyping of the tumor (Fusco and Santoro, 2007). *RET/PTC1* and *RET/PTC3* are most prevalent. *RET/PTC3* predominates in the cohort of children with radiation-induced thyroid cancer appearing after the Chernobyl nuclear plant accident in 1986 (Nikiforov et al., 1997). The tyrosine kinase portion of RET that convey the oncogenic signal. The fusion protein dimerizes independently of ligand binding leading to autophoshorylation and formation of docking sites for molecules initiating MAPK signaling and in fact PI3K pathway can also be activated (Riesco-Eizaguirre and Santisteban, 2007). RET is not expressed in normal thyroid follicular cells. However, the development of thyroid C cells requires RET and MTC can also arise from activating *RET* mutations.

# BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutation

A valine-to-glutamate substitution at residue 600 in BRAF is the most common activating *BRAF* mutation in human cancer, being most prevalent in melanoma and colon carcinoma (Davies et al., 2002). BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> is also found in approximately 45% of PTC (Xing, 2013). The mutation leads to constitutive activation of the MAPK pathway and increased phosphorylation of ERK that promotes the proliferation of tumor cells. Mutated *BRAF* is overrepresented in PDTC and ATC derived from PTC (Nikiforova et al., 2003) and has been correlated to a poorer clinical prognosis (Xing et al., 2005). Inhibitors specific to mutant BRAF are initially efficient in targeted therapy of melanoma but are also prone to elicit drug resistance (Lito et al., 2013). Since BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> down-regulates the expression of several genes involved in thyroid hormone synthesis including *NIS*, *TPO* and *TG* (Durante et al., 2007;

Mian et al., 2008; Romei et al., 2008), specific inhibitors to mutant BRAF might be useful in restoring iodide transport capacity and improve the therapeutic outcome of radioiodine treatment.  $BRAF^{V600E}$  inhibitors have also been given to patients with metastatic PTC with promising results and a phase II study has also been initiated (Kim et al., 2013).

#### RAS mutations

Another common alteration is *RAS* mutations for which the encoded GTPase is constantly bound to GTP and therefore in constitutively active. *NRAS* mutations are frequent in FTC, PDTC and ATC (Xing, 2013). Since both RAF and PI3K are effectors downstream of RAS, either pathway can potentially contribute to tumorigenesis from *RAS*-mutated cells (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2003). A predominant role of AKT has been suggested for FTC whereas increased phosphorylation of both ERK1/2 and AKT often coexists in ATC, suggesting that targeted therapy of both pathways could be more efficient in these patients (Liu et al., 2008).

## EGFR amplification

The presence of activating *EGFR* mutations in tumors have led to the development of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as gefitenib currently used in patients with  $EGFR^{CA}$  positive non-small cell lung carcinoma with some benefits in delaying disease progression (Lee et al., 2013). *EGFR* mutations are rare in thyroid cancer (Ricarte-Filho et al., 2012). However, copy number gain of *EGFR* has been reported for 30-40% of FTC and ATC (Liu et al., 2008) with over-expression mainly observed in dedifferentiated thyroid tumors (Landriscina et al., 2011).

#### PI3KCA mutations

The *PI3KCA* gene encodes for the p110 $\alpha$  subunit and activating mutations or copy number gain leading to increased PI3K/AKT signaling have been reported in thyroid cancer with highest frequency found in FTCs (5-15%) or ATCs (15-25%) (Xing, 2013).

#### PTEN alterations

Deletion or inactivating mutations of *PTEN* that negatively regulates AKT in normal cells will lead to increased activity of the PI3K/AKT pathway and promotion of tumor development (Xing, 2013). *PTEN* is also epigenetically regulated and higher levels of methylated *PTEN* coexisting with other PI3K/AKT alterations have been reported for FTC and PTC (Hou et al., 2008).

#### Pax8-PPARy

Translocation between chromosome 2 and 3 gives rise to the Pax8-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ) fusion gene (*PAX-PPAR\gamma*). This fusion gene encodes for a fusion protein that acts as a dominant negative inhibitor of wild type PPAR $\gamma$  (Kroll et al., 2000) and is found in up to 60% of FTC (Xing, 2013).

#### TP53 mutations

Inactivating mutations in the tumor suppressor *TP53* are preferentially found in advanced and highly malignant tumors indicating an important role in tumor progression (Malaguarnera et al., 2007). Mutated p53 occurs in 25% of PDTC and the majority (70-80%) of ATC (Xing, 2013).

# **Small Molecule Kinase Inhibitors**

Clarifying the identity of which kinase is overactive leading to dysregulated pathway signaling in cancer, opens the opportunity for targeted treatment, by allowing the development of specific inhibitors. Currently in Sweden only the RTK inhibitor vandetanib is approved for treatment of metastatic MTC and in US cabozantinib is in addition approved since last year for the same indication. However, clinical trials with small molecule kinase inhibitors for other forms of thyroid cancer are in progress (Xing, 2013). This thesis makes use of three established kinase inhibitors to block MEK, PI3K and mutant BRAF, respectively, in cultured normal thyrocytes and thyroid cancer cell lines. It is therefore appropriate to describe their pharmacological feature in some more detail.

#### U0126 directed against MEK

Synthesized in the late 1950's 1,4-diamino-2,3-dicyano-1,4-bis[2-aminophenylthio]butadiene or U0126 (Middleton et al., 1958) was in 1998 identified as a specific MEK1/2 inhibitor (Favata et al., 1998). The drug was already known to inhibit gene activation through transcription factor AP-1 involved in cell cycle control (Angel and Karin, 1991). U0126 inhibits MEK1/2 non-competitively by binding to the enzyme on a position different from the binding sites of ATP or ERK (Favata et al., 1998). It is regarded as one of the most powerful pan-MEK inhibitors. However, due to pharmaceutical limitations it cannot be used clinically, although there are other substances MEK inhibitors with better profiles concerning bioavailability and solubility are available today (Fremin and Meloche, 2010). Nevertheless,

U0126 is widely used experimentally as an important tool to evaluate the contribution of MAPK signaling.



**Fig.3.** Signaling pathways showing the key points of action of the major inhibitors used in this study.

#### LY294002 directed against PI3K

The natural agent wortmannin originally found to inhibit PI3K is unspecific and afflicted by many off-target effects. Another PI3K antagonist, the flavonoid quercetin, was used as a model to synthesize more selective inhibitors to PI3K. One of them, (2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenylchromon(e2 -morpholino-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one) or LY294002 inhibits PI3K with a much higher specificity and potency as compared to quercetin (Vlahos et al., 1994). LY294002 is a pan-PI3K inhibitor acting competitively by blocking ATP binding to all PI3K isoforms at micromolar range. However, the specificity profile of LY294002 has been reported to be broader than first expected (Gharbi et al., 2007). For example, the catalytic site of p100 $\alpha$  and mTOR is structurally similar explaining the cross-reactivity and proposing an advantage that LY294002 and similar drugs may be used as a dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitor (Markman et al., 2010). Hence, the possibility of multiple drug effects should be considered when interpreting experimental data using LY294002.

#### PLX4720 directed against mutated BRAF

The high prevalence of  $BRAF^{V600E}$  mutations in human cancers has encouraged the development of inhibitors specifically targeting the mutated form of the kinase. N-(3-(5-chloro-1H-pyrrolo[2,3-b]pyridine-3-carbonyl)-2,4-difluorophenyl)propane-1-sulfonamide

or PLX4720 belongs to the first generation of inhibitors that binds competitively to the ATPbinding pocket in the kinase-active conformation and efficiently reduces the growth for both melanoma cell line and melanoma tumor xenografts (Tsai et al., 2008). PLX4032 or vemurafenib is an analogue to PLX4720 but with more favorable pharmacokinetic properties in animal studies (Bollag et al., 2010), which led to the recent approval of vemurafenib for treatment of metastatic melanoma. Unfortunately, efficient treatment with BRAF inhibitors is limited by the high prevalence of acquired drug resistance. Several mechanisms including amplification of wild type BRAF (or CRAF), appearance of spliced versions of BRAF being drug insensitive, or additional mutations downstream of RAF have been identified (Lito et al., 2013). Interestingly, there is a divergence in drug response between BRAF mutant cancer cell lines in that thyroid-derived and but not melanoma-derived cell lines reactivate MAPK signaling pathway by respond to PLX4032 treatment with accelerated HER3 signaling leading to drug resistance (Montero-Conde et al., 2013).

# **Experimental Models of Thyroid Cancer**

Many experimental systems have been developed to model tumor biology. All of them, with their pros and cons, are used in order to increase the understanding of uncontrolled cell proliferation and tumor growth, migration and local invasion of tumor cells, and the metastasizing process eventually leading to disseminated cancer. Experimental testing of potential anti-cancer drugs aiming to affect these parameters is of course a very important task in search for new treatments in patients with relapsing or metastatic disease. The next section will briefly highlight different *in vivo* and *in vitro* models previously employed in thyroid cancer research.

#### Genetically modified mice

It is well known that rodents chronically stimulated with TSH (Wynford-Thomas et al., 1982), or are exposed to ionized radiation or carcinogens develop thyroid tumors (Al-Hindawi et al., 1977; Kitahori et al., 1988; Wollman, 1963; Wollman and Reed, 1963). However, with the invention of targeted expression in transgenic mice it was possible to investigate thyroid tumorogenesis elicited by a single known oncogene (Ledent et al., 1991; Ledent et al., 1995; Ledent et al., 1994). Later on, the discovery of specific oncogenic mutations in thyroid cancer initiated generation of mouse models in which over-expression of the mutated gene elicited thyroid tumors with similar properties as the human counterpart. There are several oncogenic

mouse models available to this date (Kim and Zhu, 2009; Russo et al., 2011). Among these RET/PTC1 (Santoro et al., 1996), RET/PTC3 (Jhiang et al., 1998; Powell et al., 1998) and BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> (Knauf et al., 2005) nicely recapitulates the typical PTC variants. Thyroid-specific BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> expression further leads to an invasive tumor and progression of the phenotype resembling EMT associated with TGF- $\beta$  production (Knauf et al., 2005). Interestingly, in a doxycyclin-inducible mouse model there are indications of reversibility and tumor regression of BRAF-induced PTC when the oncogenic signal is discontinued (Chakravarty et al., 2011). In the same model, treatment with small molecule kinase inhibitors inhibiting BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> or MEK has a therapeutic effect on tumor growth and which in addition reverses dedifferentiation and at least partly recovers radioiodine uptake (Chakravarty et al., 2011). Presently, there is only one proposed ATC mouse model reported, co-inactivation of two tumor suppressor genes *TP53* and *PTEN*, suggesting involvement of PI3K pathway in the tumorigenesis of ATC (Antico Arciuch et al., 2011).

#### **Cell lines**

Another and perhaps more convenient way to experimentally study oncogenes and tumorassociated factors is the use of immortalized but untransformed non-human cell lines transfected with the gene of interest. For example, inducible BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> expressed in the PCC13 rat thyroid cell line makes a model of tumor progression in which TGFβ up-regulated by BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> induces EMT in cooperation with constitutive MAPK signaling (Riesco-Eizaguirre et al., 2009). Otherwise, cancer cell lines established from malignant thyroid tumors have served as valuable tools in innumerable studies aiming to study various aspects of tumor cell behavior with the benefit of being derived from human tumors. However, significant redundancy and misidentification were recently found among several thyroid cancer cell lines (Schweppe et al., 2008). The cell lines analyzed in this study are summarized in table 1. Thus, choice of cell line should be carefully considered before entering a study in which cell origin and context are of importance. Another concern regarding cell lines is to be aware of the apparent risk of altered cell behavior during propagation due to selection and acquisition of new mutations. It was recently shown that cell lines established from DTC have adopted an *in vitro* signature with a gene expression profile and phenotype that closest resemble undifferentiated tumors (van Staveren et al., 2007). It is likely that such changes inflict on the responsiveness to reagents and drugs that makes comparison to the originating primary tumor and translations to in vivo conditions difficult or even impossible. Nevertheless, some progress have been made using cell lines to better understand mechanisms

C. INGESON CARLSSON

of functional dedifferentiation that might explain loss of NIS expression and resistance to radioiodine therapy, trying to redifferentiate and recover NIS-mediated iodide uptake. For example by targeting established thyroid cancer cell lines with poor iodide uptake with small molecule kinase inhibitors alone or in combination with histonedeacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor SAHA increased trapping of radioiodide was observed (Hou et al., 2010). In addition, DNA methylation inhibitors have been shown to partially restore both *NIS* expression and iodide uptake (Venkataraman et al., 1999). On the other hand, another DNA methylation inhibitor (5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine) failed to redifferentiate thyroid cancer cell lines in a recent study (Dom et al., 2013). Contradicting results are also reported for all-transretinoic acid (ATRA) used for the same purpose (Malehmir et al., 2012; Vivaldi et al., 2009).

#### **Primary cell culture**

Tumor cells are by definition fundamentally different from normal cells in particular regarding growth control. However, differentiated tumors retain many features of the ancestral cell. Moreover, growth factor stimulation of normal epithelial cells can induce not only proliferation but also dedifferentiation, cell migration and even complete EMT suggesting primary cultures may be instrumental to better understand at least some aspects of tumor cell behavior shared by non-transformed cells. Tumor cells produce their own growth factors, which is important for sustained proliferative signaling (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Auto- or paracrine growth factors may also be important for induction of EMT and tumor cell migration. As mentioned before, the gene expression profile of normal human thyrocytes treated with EGF in the presence of serum mimics the transcriptome monitored in PTC (Hebrant et al., 2007). This included, for example galectin-3, which is not expressed in the normal thyroid but potentially can transform thyrocytes (Takenaka et al., 2003).

Combined activation by EGF and TGF- $\beta$  induces EMT in normal porcine thyrocytes (Grande et al., 2002) and matrix invasion of cells from 3D cultured thyroid follicles (Nilsson et al., 1995). Together this indicates that primary normal thyroid cells under the influence of growth factors can serve as a potentially interesting model for further investigation of targeted drug effects.

Studies on primary human thyroid tumor samples in cell culture or explants are yet few, but recent findings suggest this is a promising future approach for possible individualized patient investigations (Antonelli et al., 2008a; Antonelli et al., 2008b; Bravo et al., 2013).

22

# Aims of the Thesis

#### Paper I: Recovery of NIS expression by inhibition of MEK

Possibilities to redifferentiate thyroid cancer cells and obtain sufficient expression of NIS, the primary iodide transporter in normal thyroid cells, in order to improve radioiodine therapy have proven to be difficult for various reasons. There is also a relative lack of knowledge of mechanisms that repress NIS expression leading to loss of thyroid iodide uptake, although most likely both genetic and epigenetic aberrations cooperate. This study was undertaken to elucidate if we can learn more from investigations on normal thyrocytes triggered to dedifferentiate by EGF-induced activation of the MAPK signaling pathway. Specifically, identification of limiting factors or culture conditions for the recovery of NIS expression by single drug treatment with MEK inhibitor was addressed. To this purpose 2D and 3D cultures were compared based on reports that microenvironment influences gene expression and drug responses in both normal and tumor cells (Bissell and Hines, 2011; Bissell et al., 2003; Correia and Bissell, 2012)

#### Paper II: Inhibition of thyroid cell migration by MEK and PI3K inhibitors

Experimental findings mainly based from non-thyroid studies indicate that uncontrolled PI3K/AKT signaling play a major role in cancer cells migration and invasiveness and that PI3K inhibition may diminish tumor spreading. However, co-activation of other oncogenic pathways may modify the drug response and even lead to the opposite, and increased metastatic behavior, as recently reported for colon cancer (Tenbaum et al., 2012). In thyroid there are only few studies so far addressing to role of PI3K in tumor cells (Burrows et al., 2013), and knowledge of the response of normal thyroid cells to PI3K inhibitors is sparse. This was investigated in 3D-cultured thyroid follicles focusing on the contribution of PI3K in EGF-induced cell migration and any possible influences on preservation of the epithelial phenotype.

# Paper III: Inhibition of thyroid cancer cell invasion by BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> and MEK inhibitors

Scratch wounding and transmigration across matrix-coated permeable filter are convenient but simplified methods for investigation tumor cell migration and invasion *in vitro*. In this study we wanted to investigate whether 3D culture inside extracellular matrix modifies the migrating behavior of PTC- and ATC-derived thyroid cancer cell lines harboring oncogenic

 $BRAF^{V600E}$  mutations and the response to a BRAF-specific inhibitor. The possibility of rebound activation of MAPK signaling during prolonged exposure to BRAF inhibitor and its consequences for invasiveness and the responsiveness to co-treatment with a MEK inhibitor were also addressed.

# **Methodological Considerations**

In the following section some general aspects of the methods used in this thesis and related issues of concern will be discussed. For more information the reader is referred to the individual papers.

#### Isolation of porcine thyroid follicles

Major parts of this thesis (paper I and II) are based experiments on primary cultured porcine thyrocytes. Isolation and enrichment of porcine thyroid follicles is a well established method in our laboratory developed already in 1980. Basically the protocol comprises repeated cycles of enzymatic degradation and mechanical disintegration (Denef et al., 1980). Thyroid glands are dissected from connective tissue and cut into small pieces before incubation in a solution containing collagenase, DNAse and trypsin inhibitor followed by filtration and centrifugation at low speed in order to separate the follicles from large indigestible remnant tissues and single cells. Thus, the preparation is essentially free from fibroblast, endothelial cells and blood elements.

#### Selection of thyroid cancer cell lines

In paper III we wanted to preferentially study BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutant cells and we choose ATC derived SW1736 and PTC derived BCPAP, both having the mutation and recommended as safe regarding origin and without contamination in the study of Schweepe et al (Schweppe et al., 2008). Studies on cell lines not harbouring BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutation (Hth7 with mutation of *NRAS* Q61R) are being initiated but paper III only includes SW1736 and BCPAP as of the time of writing of this thesis.

#### 2D and 3D cell culture

Most experiments in paper I were conducted on normal porcine thyrocytes cultured in Transwell<sup>TM</sup> bicameral insert chamber system suitable for monitoring transport across a tight monolayer. The model has previously been used in several studies in our laboratory as it is

better than any other *in vitro* systems as it mimics the natural route of iodide transport in the thyroid (Ericson and Nilsson, 1996; Nilsson and Ericson, 1994; Norden et al., 2007). Establishment of an epithelial barrier is absolutely necessary for proper measurement of active transport that can be distinguished from passive flux through leaky junctions. To ensure this, both transepithelial resistance (TER) and potential difference (PD) were measured during the entire experiments. This was particularly important when cells were treated with growth factors or drugs for prolonged time periods. For paper I we also adopted a 3D model in which thyrocytes were cultured in a collagen gel. Use of collagen type I as matrix to study cell behavior in a 3D matrix has a long history (Elsdale and Bard, 1972). Earlier studies also showed that embedding thyroid follicles in a collagen gel stabiles the correct polarity presumably through providing an interaction of the cell membrane with an extracellular component to which the cell can adhere (Chambard et al., 1981; Garbi et al., 1984). Notably, collagen gel embedded follicles were previously used as a model to investigate cell migration induced by peptide growth factors (Nilsson et al., 1995; Westermark et al., 1991). In paper I a modified version of the collagen gel culture in which follicles were allowed to reconstitute prior to experimental start provided a model in which functional dedifferentiation focusing on *pNIS* expression and iodination in response to chronic EGF stimulation was studied. In paper II this model was further employed to investigate involvement of MEK and PI3K pathways in EGF-induced cell migration. In paper III we used tumor cell lines also embedded in collagen and extended the single gel culture into invasion assay consisting of a double gel setup, we studied the effects of inhibitors.

#### Iodide transport and iodination

In paper I iodide transport and iodination was studied in 2D and 3D culture respectively. This was done by adding trace amount of  $^{125}\Gamma$ , only to the basal medium in Trasnwell<sup>TM</sup> chambers, and the measuring the accumulated activity either in the apical medium or trapped in follicles depending on type of experiment. In filter-cultured cells it is possible to differentiate between iodide transport through the epithelial cells including both the basolateral uptake mediated by NIS and apical efflux of iodide (Nilsson et al., 1990; Nilsson and Ericson, 1994) although this was not pursued in this thesis. To avoid confounding iodination in iodide transport studies, it is essential to inhibit TPO with methimazole (MMI). In collagen gel-cultured follicles it was not possible to distinguish  $^{125}\Gamma$  uptake from unspecific binding of  $^{125}\Gamma$ , which required long rinsing to remove. However, in the absence of TPO inhibitor organification primarily representing iodinated TG is readily measured in the 3D model. As this was found to be

abolished by perchlorate, it is evident that the trapped activity depends on active transport by NIS and also that the cells formed tight follicles with a secluded lumen in which iodinated TG is stored. Conversely, 2D cultured cells on filter were not suitable for iodination as the radiotracer is rapidly diluted in the large apical medium volume away from the apical membrane where iodination normally take place (Ekholm, 1981; Ekholm and Bjorkman, 1997). Thus, both the models used in this thesis are complementary in experimental investigation of thyroid function.

#### NIS mRNA expression

*NIS* expression was analyzed by RT-qPCR in paper I. Primers used have previously been designed for to detect all transcripts present in porcine cells (Norden et al., 2007) but the reference gene was replaced by ubiquitin since the long term treatments radically affected other genes tested as for example 18s, GAPDH or beta actin . RNA was extracted from either 2D or 3D cultures by using RNeasy micro kit (Qiagen) and in both cases by direct lysis but an additional centrifugation step was included for 3D cultures to remove residual medium before the lysis. Reverse transcription was performed on the extracted RNA and qPCR was run using SYBR green method and relative expression was analyzed with  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001)

#### Analysis of phosphorylated ERK1/2 or AKT

Downstream signaling and protein analysis of phosphorylated ERK1/2 or AKT was performed by SDS PAGE and Western blot. Cells cultured in 2D were directly lysed in the presence of inhibitors of proteinases and phosphatases. In 3D cultures three gels were pooled and collagenase treated (100 U/ml) for 1 hour before the cells were pelleted and lysed. The transferring of the proteins to a membrane being probed for phosphorylated protein and after removing the first antibodies also reprobing it for total ERK1/2 or AKT for loading control.

#### Cell proliferation and survival

Cell proliferation was estimated by [<sup>3</sup>H] thymidine incorporation in paper II and III. After incubation, excessive activity was removed by extensive washing before solubilization of the gel and liquid scintillation counting. For 3D-cultured cell lines this method was technically problematic with inconsistent results although morphological analysis revealed difference in cell density after treatment with inhibitors. Evaluation of tumor cell number in collagen gel was therefore limited to microscopy. Nucleus was counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-

phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI). When stained with DAPI nucleus with apoptotic cells will display a characteristic pattern of nuclear condensation and fragmentation which can be used to evaluate the viability of the cell. This is also important because the cells were treated for long time with drugs. Quantification of follicle number based on DAPI staining (paper II) was done in a standardized manner in which all follicles in four fields at 20X were counted.

#### Migration and invasion assays

In both paper II and III the migration and invasive behavior of normal follicular cells and thyroid cancer cells were investigated. In paper II this was based on reconstituted follicles and hence the starting point was cells in a highly differentiated state. Cell migration was evaluated by direct microscopy and quantified by counting the number of follicles with a typical pattern of radial protrusion of cells from the core epithelial lining. In paper III the migration capacity in human cancer cell lines was studied by scratch wounding at high cell density followed for 24 h of recovery. Scratch wounding is a classical *in vitro* method to estimate migration potential of cells, that lately also have been adapted to high-throughput screening in 384-well format (Yarrow et al., 2004). Since cell behavior can be modulated in presence of extracellular matrix we also wanted to study SW1736 and BCPAP when embedded in collagen. Migration of cells randomly dispersed in gels was impossible to evaluate so we developed the 3D model by embedding the cell-containing gel in another gel which made it possible to monitor and grade the amount of cells invading from the first to second gel over time by light microscopy. Invasion was documented by images taken at four opposite locations of the gel interface.

When following migration *in vitro* with the routine or invented methods used in this thesis, it is impossible to completely distinguish migration from potential proliferation which also could contribute to the covering of scratch wound or the increased number of cells in the outer second gel. Since results of scratch wounding were evaluated after 24 h this avoided a major contribution of proliferation. Invasion into the second gel was extended for longer time (3-6 days) hence proliferation likely influenced the number of cells.

#### Fluorescence microscopy in 3D cultures

Immunofluorescent labeling of 3-D cultured cells required optimization of protocols to reduce background staining. This included incubation overnight with blocking solution and primary antibody, prolonged incubation with secondary antibody, and extended time for washing. The intensity and distribution of TG immunoreactivity (cytoplasmic or lumen) were analyzed in paper I and localization of ZO-1 was imaged in paper II to evaluate EGF and drug effects on thyroid function and epithelial phenotype respectively. In addition, F-actin labeled with phalloidin-FITC was analyzed in paper III to characterize cell shape changes of 3D-cultured cancer cell lines. Imaging of fluorescent signal in thick specimens and in which the objects of interest are dispersed in many focal planes is challenging. In an attempt to improve the evaluation, follicles were also cultured in a sandwich model seeded between two acellular gels. However, this method was rejected due to unwanted spontaneous spreading of cells forming a monolayer in the intervening space.

# **Results and Discussion**

Switching from MAPK-dependent to MAPK-independent repression of the sodium-iodide symporter in 2D and 3D cultured normal thyroid cells (paper I)

The main findings in paper I were:

- Serum potentiates TSH-stimulated *NIS* expression and iodide transport in porcine thyroid epithelial cells 2D-cultured on a permeable filter.
- In this system, EGF down-regulates *NIS* expression in both a MEK-dependent and MEK-independent manner depending on the serum concentration.
- In thyroid cells embedded in collagen gel, serum is important for the viability and reconstitution of follicles but does not potentiate *NIS* expression or iodination.
- In reconstituted follicles EGF down-regulates NIS and prevents iodination entirely by a MEK-independent mechanism.
- Other investigated thyroid functions i.e. synthesis and turnover of TG and transepithelial electrolyte transport, are inhibited by activation of the MAPK signaling pathway.



**Fig.4.** Interplay between FBS and MEK and Non-MEK dependent pathways leading to downregulation of NIS in 2D and 3D cultures of thyroid cells.

C. INGESON CARLSSON

Refractoriness to radioiodine (iodine-131) in advanced thyroid cancer is primarily caused by loss of NIS expression (Schlumberger et al., 2007) and this has been found to be difficult to restore, which would be preferable since it would increase the possibilities to offer radiotherapy to patients with relapsing or widespread tumors. Interestingly, in a mouse model of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup>-induced PTC it was found that when the oncogenic signal is shut down or MEK is inhibited, the expression of thyroid proteins TSH, TG and TPO was restored but NIS did not respond to the inhibitor as efficiently (Chakravarty et al., 2011). To further study MAPK involvement in down-regulation of NIS and iodide transportation we modeled this by stimulating normal thyroid cells cultured either on Transwell filters or in a collagen gel with EGF. In 2D culture, two different mechanisms were found. Firstly, in low serum conditions where the cells had a suboptimal TSH response in comparison to what was possible to achive in high serum conditions, EGF had a pronounced down-regulating effect on NIS expression and iodide transport, but over time the barrier function was lost which made it problematic to study iodide transport after long term treatment. In this low serum condition all parameters (apart from NIS-mediated transport also electrolyte transport and the barrier function) were readily restored in the presence of the MEK inhibitor U0126, suggesting a MEK-dependent mechanism responsible for EGF-induced thyroid dedifferentiation. When the serum level was raised to 5% during EGF-stimulation the MEK inhibitor still could prevent phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and also inhibit the loss of electrolyte transport, but interestingly NIS mRNA levels remained low indicating that in this condition the repression of NIS gene transcription is MEK-dependent only to a minor extent and a major MEK-independent mechanism is responsible. It should be mentioned that this shift was not due to reactivation of the MAPK signaling pathway, which is a common mechanism in tumor cells leading to acquisition of drug resistance to small molecule kinase inhibitors targeting this pathway (Alcala and Flaherty, 2012). In addition, poor recovery of NIS expression did not seem to be mediated by the PI3K pathway, which was found to contribute little if any to EGF responses in confluent primary cultured thyroid cells. So the findings were paradoxical with serum factor(s) on one hand promoting a differentiated state and high iodide transport capacity of the thyrocytes and on the other hand modifying the EGF response leading to persistent loss of NIS expression.

It has been shown that when thyroid cells are organized in a follicle-like structure *NIS* is expressed more (Bernier-Valentin et al., 2006). In addition, in breast epithelial cells 3D microenvironment also regulates gene expression (Bissell et al., 2003). So we decided to

30

culture the same thyroid cells as follicles embedded in a 3D matrix of collagen which potentially could give more insight in how serum, EGF and TSH modify the response and the effect of MEK inhibition. It was very interesting to find that even though serum was still important for the reconstitution of follicles early after plating serum concentration did not seem to affect function, that is the follicles responded equally well at both short and long term-stimulation with TSH regardless if the level of serum was kept high or lowered. Moreover, MEK inhibition was inefficient and could not rescue *NIS* expression or iodination. On the other hand, both synthesis and distribution of TG was reversed when U0126 was added. Hence, similar to the aforementioned mouse PTC model (Chakravarty et al., 2011), although both NIS and TG are affected by activation of the MAPK signaling pathway, the ability of small kinase inhibitors against MEK to reverse the phenotype differs with NIS being more refractory. Together, this suggests that a MEK independent mechanism more specifically repress the expression of *NIS*.

# Dual contribution of MAPK and PI3K in epidermal growth factor-induced destabilization

### of thyroid follicular integrity and cell migration into extracellular matrix (paper II)

The main findings of paper II were:

- EGF-induced proliferation of thyroid cells cultured as reconstituted follicles in collagen gels involves both MAPK and PI3K signaling.
- In the same time EGF antagonizes TSH-stimulated enlargement of the follicle lumen, although in absence of kinase inhibitors the follicles remain intact.
- Radial cell migration induced by EGF is also dependent on MEK and PI3K, augmented by serum, and concomitant inhibition is needed for full inhibition of migration.
- Single treatment with MEK inhibitor only partly inhibited migration but fully restitutes the follicular structure.
- Single treatment with PI3K inhibitor adversely promotes EGF-induced cell migration and in addition provokes follicle disintegration.
- As revealed by ZO-1 staining, EGF treatment in the presence of PI3K inhibitor allows migrating cells to retain the epithelial phenotype with capacity to reform follicles.
- EGF exerts a cytoprotective effect that counteracts apoptosis resulting from PI3K inhibition.



**Fig.5.** A representation of the morphological changes induced by various treatments used in this study.

In paper II we wanted to further investigate the collagen gel model focusing first on the possibility to pharmacologically block thyroid cell migration in a 3D context and, secondly, on possible mechanisms that may keep the integrity of the follicular epithelium during EGFinduced migration. Since PI3K signaling, in addition to the more well studied MAPK pathway has been suggested to contribute to thyroid cancer cell spreading (Burrows et al., 2013), we also wanted to include this pathway in the evaluation. First, we monitored cell proliferation based on [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine incorporation and found that this was increased by EGF regardless of serum content, although the effect was prominent in serum-starved cells. Inhibition of MEK or PI3K with U0126 and LY294002, respectively, reduced growth and when drugs were combined an additive effect was observed. We then analyzed the morphology of gel-cultured follicles treated with combinations of TSH, EGF, serum and inhibitors and also quantified the number of follicles with signs of cell migration. Radial migration was clearly induced by EGF and in addition there was a pronounced effect on the lumen structure as compared to TSH-stimulated follicles. The lumen structure was clearly restored in presence of U0126 regardless of serum but the inhibitory effect on cell migration was more obvious in low serum conditions. Thus, in follicles cultured in 5% FBS and stimulated with EGF there was a significant amount of ongoing migration when MEK was

inhibited from the start of experiment. Combined treatment with U0126 and LY924002 was needed to inhibit cell migration completely.

When cells were stimulated with EGF in the presence of a PI3K inhibitor, remarkable morphological changes were observed by direct microscopy, as if the entire follicular structure was abolished due to augmented cell migration. This pattern was especially pronounced at 5% FBS, although still obvious in reduced serum. However, immunolocalization of ZO-1 revealed that despite the chaotic growth pattern most cells were organized in follicles although with much distorted shapes and the lumens were still delimited by tight junctions with seemingly normal appearance. Interestingly, small aggregates of cells frequently found in cultures with combined EGF and LY294002 treatment expressed ZO-1 and had lumens. Counting them showed significantly increased numbers of lumen-containing structures only in this treatment group. It should be reminded that this was observed despite the fact that cell proliferation was reduced (by PI3K inhibition), indicating that new follicles were formed not because of increased cell number but rather reorganization of preexisting cells after breakdown of the original follicles. Hence, PI3K seems to be important for keeping the follicular structure intact. There is a considerable cross-talk between PI3K and MAPK signaling and PI3K can influence MAPK pathway and vice versa. Furthermore, depending on the situation PI3K can potentially even prolong the period of time when ERK is being phosphorylated (Aksamitiene et al., 2012). When added to TSH-stimulated cells LY294002 did not induce any migration, but morphologically the follicles appeared affected and DAPI staining revealed an increased number of cells with condensed or fragmented nuclei indicative of apoptosis. However, in the presence of EGF this pattern did not occur. Therefore, EGF supports cell survival that otherwise is threatened by repression of vital PI3K-dependent cellular functions.

# Differential effects of MAPK pathway inhibitors on migration and invasiveness of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutant thyroid cancer cells in 2D and 3D culture (paper III)

The main findings of paper III were:

- Comparing two thyroid cancer cell lines of different tumor origin (BCPAP from PTC and SW1736 from ATC) BCPAP was more affected by PLX4720, a BRAF<sup>V600E</sup>specific inhibitor, and U0126 in all parameters evaluated.
- Rebound activation of MAPK/ERK1/2 pathway after PLX4720 treatment is evident in SW1736 but not in BCPAP although both harbor the BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutation.
- Migration of SW1736 in 2D culture (wound assay) is largely resistant to both PLX4720 and U0126, although both inhibitors blocked cell proliferation.
- In 3D culture BCPAP cells are highly dependent on MAPK pathway for survival while SW1736 cells are much less sensitive.
- Single or dual inhibition of BRAF and MEK in 3D-grown SW1736 hamper cell migration but do not prevent matrix invasion during prolonged culture.



**Fig.6.** Overview of the 'gel-in-gel' method employed to culture thyroid cancer cells in this study.

Migration assays *in vitro* do not normally take microenvironment and extracellular matrix into consideration. In paper III we wanted to focus on the major oncogenic alteration in PTC, BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutation, and its possible contribution to migration and invasion by setting up a 3D culture system and comparing this with findings in a conventional scratch wound assay in 2D culture. Two different cells lines were chosen, the PTC-derived BCPAP and ATC-derived SW1736. To evaluate the influence of MAPK signaling we selected one powerful MEK inhibitor, U0126, which is commonly used in experimental studies, and one BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> inhibitor, PLX4720, which is the predecessor to PLX4032 or vemurafenib used in clinical

trials. Based on phosphorylation of ERK1/2, both cell lines were clearly inhibited by both substances administered one at the time but as previously reported for thyroid cancer cell lines (Montero-Conde et al., 2013) SW1736 showed a pronounced rebound activation of MEK in presence of PLX4720. However, rebound signaling was abolished with dual treatment, that is MEK remained silenced. Somewhat surprisingly, it was not necessary to prevent reactivation of MEK to sustainably inhibit tumor cell proliferation.

Next, we evaluated the potential effect of MAPK inhibition on the migration of tumor cells as monitored after scratch wounding of confluent 2D cultures. This showed major differences in drug response between the cell lines. First of all, BCPAP migrated more slowly than SW1736 and was unable to close the wound after 24 hours, which SW1736 did. BCPAP was also very sensitive to MEK or BRAF inhibition. SW1736 on the other hand was less affected and combined drug treatment did not produce a significant difference.

When embedded in collagen type I matrix cell proliferation was lowered in both cell lines as compared to 2D cultures. It should be mentioned that it was difficult to evaluate drug effects on growth after [<sup>3</sup>H] thymidine labeling due to large variations within and between experiments. As an alternative method we stained F-actin, which made it easy to evaluate cell density in the entire gel volume. This showed that SW1736 increased in number between 24 and 72 hours whereas the amount of BCPAPs was fairly constant during the same time. In the presence of inhibitors, most notably U0126, the cell viability of BCPAP was markedly reduced with very few cells remaining after treatment for 48 hours. U0126 inhibited 3D growth of SW1736 but there were no evident signs of reduced survival. SW1736 multiplied in the presence of PLX4720, and the combined treatment with MEK inhibitor had no obvious additive effect.

Finally, we wanted to study drugs effects on matrix invasion of the cell lines. To this purpose a new model that allowed directed migration to be monitored embedding the cell-containing gel in a second gel of collagen. Cells entering the second, outer gel were monitored by direct microscopy for as long as 6 days without signs of side effects due to prolonged culture. In the absence of inhibitors, both cell lines migrated into the outer gel with a clear difference demonstrating that SW1736 has a much more invasive phenotype. Drug-treated BCPAP were unable to invade, which was expected by the finding most cells died under treatment. Also, the migration of SW1736 was much reduced. However, neither single nor dual treatment with PLX4720 and U0126 prevented matrix invasion completely, that is many tumor cells entered

the second gel after 6 days of treatment. Together, this suggests involvement of a MAPKindependent mechanism in migration of SW1736 and that targeting this pathway alone is insufficient to prevent tumor cell invasion.

# **Concluding Remarks**

# **Regarding thyroid dedifferentiation:**

- EGF-induced down-regulation of TG is MAPK dependent, whereas the negative effect on NIS expression occurs in two ways: the classical MAPK signaling and a non-MEK mechanism.
- Culture context, 2D or 3D, determines which mechanism predominates and whether MAPK inhibitors can restitute NIS expression or not.
- The findings offer a new explanation for loss of iodide uptake in response to receptor tyrosine kinase activation.

# **Regarding thyroid cell migration:**

- EGF-induced cell migration in 3D-cultured thyroid follicles is concerted by MAPK and PI3K-mediated signals, and both pathways must be blocked to prevent matrix invasion.
- PI3K-regulated mechanism(s) supervise maintenance of follicular structure and integrity of the epithelium, ultimately supporting thyroid cell survival. Inhibition of PI3K under activation of the MAPK pathway provokes follicle disintegration and accelerated cell migration.
- This motivates a cautionary note of a potentially disadvantageous effect of PI3K inhibitors unless MAPK signaling is simultaneously blocked.

# Regarding thyroid cancer cell invasion:

- *BRAF*<sup>V600E</sup> mutant cell lines derived from different types of thyroid cancer possess different sensitivity to BRAF and MEK inhibitors regarding tumor cell migration and invasion.
- Rebound activation of MEK after BRAF inhibition does not necessarily correlate with gain of tumor cell growth or altered tumor cell motility.
- Dual inhibition of BRAF and MEK do not prevent matrix invasion of 3D-cultured thyroid tumor cells derived from anaplastic cancer. Such treatment may select tumor subclones with a higher invasive potential.

# Acknowledgements

Being into research is not always easy but for me it has been something I needed to do. This book is the result of several years of work and passion and even if the passion has been mine, I could never have done this without the support.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor **Mikael Nilsson** for accepting me as a PhD student in his group. I have learnt a lot during these years about myself and about research. Having the critical personality that I have, I find your skill in always find something positive in each experiment inspiring.

**Therese Carlsson** - thanks for all the help with cell isolations and for all the support in everything, even helping me during my first travel by airplane!

**Shawn Liang** – my hardworking co-worker and friend. Thanks for the company during weekends and evenings! It is much easier when you are not alone.

Ellen Johansson – for all the nice discussions about everything including teaching.

Elin Schoultz – the newest member of the group entering with new energy.

Louise Andersson, Jessica Örnros, Madeleine Nordén Lyckesvärd and Daniel Löfgren. Thank you for taken care of me when I started my work in the group.

I also want thank **Jonas Nilsson** and **Lisa Nilsson**, for being interested and supportive in all different matters including talking about my projects, lending me primers or having more general discussions about what to do or not to do in science.

I want to thank my co-workers in and around Sahlgrenska Cancer Center and in our previous location at Medkem.

Many of you have become very close and dear friends of mine and I think you already know how important you are to me. I am so thankful, especially for the help during the last couple of month including buying me food, giving me company and support, helping me finalizing the thesis and for just being there for me. The truth is, I could never have finished this without you. **You are the best!** 

I want to thank **my family** for allowing me to do this even if the consequences have been that I once in a while have been rather absent.

Finally thank you to my own **Roger**, you have been there all the time. It has been a long way for both of us but now the book is finally written!

# References

- Aberle, H., Butz, S., Stappert, J., Weissig, H., Kemler, R., and Hoschuetzky, H., 1994. Assembly of the cadherin-catenin complex in vitro with recombinant proteins. J Cell Sci 107 (Pt 12), 3655-3663.
- Aksamitiene, E., Kiyatkin, A., and Kholodenko, B. N., 2012. Cross-talk between mitogenic Ras/MAPK and survival PI3K/Akt pathways: a fine balance. Biochem Soc Trans 40, 139-146.
- Al-Hindawi, A. Y., Black, E. G., Brewer, D. B., Griffiths, S. G., and Hoffenberg, R., 1977. Measurement of thyroid hormone in experimental thyroid tumours in rats. J Endocrinol 75, 245-250.
- Alcala, A. M., and Flaherty, K. T., 2012. BRAF inhibitors for the treatment of metastatic melanoma: clinical trials and mechanisms of resistance. Clin Cancer Res 18, 33-39.
- Allgeier, A., Offermanns, S., Van Sande, J., Spicher, K., Schultz, G., and Dumont, J. E., 1994. The human thyrotropin receptor activates G-proteins Gs and Gq/11. J Biol Chem 269, 13733-13735.
- Andros, G., and Wollman, S. H., 1967. Autoradiographic localization of radioiodide in the thyroid gland of the mouse. Am J Physiol 213, 198-208.
- Angel, P., and Karin, M., 1991. The role of Jun, Fos and the AP-1 complex in cellproliferation and transformation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1072, 129-157.
- Antico Arciuch, V. G., Russo, M. A., Dima, M., Kang, K. S., Dasrath, F., Liao, X. H., Refetoff, S., Montagna, C., and Di Cristofano, A., 2011. Thyrocyte-specific inactivation of p53 and Pten results in anaplastic thyroid carcinomas faithfully recapitulating human tumors. Oncotarget 2, 1109-1126.
- Antonelli, A., Ferrari, S. M., Fallahi, P., Berti, P., Materazzi, G., Barani, L., Marchetti, I., Ferrannini, E., and Miccoli, P., 2008a. Primary cell cultures from anaplastic thyroid cancer obtained by fine-needle aspiration used for chemosensitivity tests. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 69, 148-152.
- Antonelli, A., Ferrari, S. M., Fallahi, P., Berti, P., Materazzi, G., Marchetti, I., Ugolini, C., Basolo, F., Miccoli, P., and Ferrannini, E., 2008b. Evaluation of the sensitivity to chemotherapeutics or thiazolidinediones of primary anaplastic thyroid cancer cells obtained by fine-needle aspiration. Eur J Endocrinol 159, 283-291.
- Balda, M. S., Garrett, M. D., and Matter, K., 2003. The ZO-1-associated Y-box factor ZONAB regulates epithelial cell proliferation and cell density. J Cell Biol 160, 423-432.
- Balda, M. S., and Matter, K., 2000. The tight junction protein ZO-1 and an interacting transcription factor regulate ErbB-2 expression. EMBO J 19, 2024-2033.
- Bernier-Valentin, F., Kostrouch, Z., Rabilloud, R., Munari-Silem, Y., and Rousset, B., 1990. Coated vesicles from thyroid cells carry iodinated thyroglobulin molecules. First indication for an internalization of the thyroid prohormone via a mechanism of receptor-mediated endocytosis. J Biol Chem 265, 17373-17380.
- Bernier-Valentin, F., Trouttet-Masson, S., Rabilloud, R., Selmi-Ruby, S., and Rousset, B., 2006. Three-dimensional organization of thyroid cells into follicle structures is a pivotal factor in the control of sodium/iodide symporter expression. Endocrinology 147, 2035-2042.
- Bidart, J. M., Mian, C., Lazar, V., Russo, D., Filetti, S., Caillou, B., and Schlumberger, M., 2000. Expression of pendrin and the Pendred syndrome (PDS) gene in human thyroid tissues. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85, 2028-2033.
- Bissell, M. J., and Hines, W. C., 2011. Why don't we get more cancer? A proposed role of the microenvironment in restraining cancer progression. Nat Med 17, 320-329.

C. INGESON CARLSSON

- Bissell, M. J., Rizki, A., and Mian, I. S., 2003. Tissue architecture: the ultimate regulator of breast epithelial function. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15, 753-762.
- Bizhanova, A., and Kopp, P., 2011. Controversies concerning the role of pendrin as an apical iodide transporter in thyroid follicular cells. Cell Physiol Biochem 28, 485-490.
- Boelaert, K., and Franklyn, J. A., 2005. Thyroid hormone in health and disease. J Endocrinol 187, 1-15.
- Bollag, G., Hirth, P., Tsai, J., Zhang, J., Ibrahim, P. N., Cho, H., Spevak, W., Zhang, C., Zhang, Y., Habets, G., *et al.*, 2010. Clinical efficacy of a RAF inhibitor needs broad target blockade in BRAF-mutant melanoma. Nature 467, 596-599.
- Bourke, J. R., Murdoch, S., Manley, S. W., Matainaho, T., Huxham, G. J., and Waters, M. J., 1991. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) inhibits the secretomotor response of the thyroid: effects of EGF on radioiodine turnover and fluid transport in cultured porcine thyroid cells. J Endocrinol 128, 213-218.
- Brabant, G., Hoang-Vu, C., Behrends, J., Cetin, Y., Potter, E., Dumont, J. E., and Maenhaut, C., 1995. Regulation of the cell-cell adhesion protein, E-cadherin, in dog and human thyrocytes in vitro. Endocrinology 136, 3113-3119.
- Bravo, S. B., Garcia-Rendueles, M. E., Garcia-Rendueles, A. R., Rodrigues, J. S., Perez-Romero, S., Garcia-Lavandeira, M., Suarez-Farina, M., Barreiro, F., Czarnocka, B., Senra, A., *et al.*, 2013. Humanized medium (h7H) allows long-term primary follicular thyroid cultures from human normal thyroid, benign neoplasm, and cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98, 2431-2441.
- Burgess, A. W., 2008. EGFR family: structure physiology signalling and therapeutic targets. Growth Factors 26, 263-274.
- Burrows, N., Telfer, B., Brabant, G., and Williams, K. J., 2013. Inhibiting the phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase pathway blocks radiation-induced metastasis associated with Rho-GTPase and Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 activity. Radiother Oncol 108, 548-553.
- Cantley, L. C., 2002. The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. Science 296, 1655-1657.
- Chakravarty, D., Santos, E., Ryder, M., Knauf, J. A., Liao, X. H., West, B. L., Bollag, G., Kolesnick, R., Thin, T. H., Rosen, N., *et al.*, 2011. Small-molecule MAPK inhibitors restore radioiodine incorporation in mouse thyroid cancers with conditional BRAF activation. J Clin Invest 121, 4700-4711.
- Chambard, M., Gabrion, J., and Mauchamp, J., 1981. Influence of collagen gel on the orientation of epithelial cell polarity: follicle formation from isolated thyroid cells and from preformed monolayers. J Cell Biol 91, 157-166.
- Chambard, M., Verrier, B., Gabrion, J., and Mauchamp, J., 1983. Polarization of thyroid cells in culture: evidence for the basolateral localization of the iodide "pump" and of the thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor-adenyl cyclase complex. J Cell Biol 96, 1172-1177.
- Chanoine, J. P., Braverman, L. E., Farwell, A. P., Safran, M., Alex, S., Dubord, S., and Leonard, J. L., 1993. The thyroid gland is a major source of circulating T3 in the rat. J Clin Invest 91, 2709-2713.
- Cherfils, J., and Zeghouf, M., 2013. Regulation of small GTPases by GEFs, GAPs, and GDIs. Physiol Rev 93, 269-309.
- Clement, S., Refetoff, S., Robaye, B., Dumont, J. E., and Schurmans, S., 2001. Low TSH requirement and goiter in transgenic mice overexpressing IGF-I and IGF-Ir receptor in the thyroid gland. Endocrinology 142, 5131-5139.
- Cohen, S., 1962. Isolation of a mouse submaxillary gland protein accelerating incisor eruption and eyelid opening in the new-born animal. J Biol Chem 237, 1555-1562.

- Cohen, S., and Elliott, G. A., 1963. The stimulation of epidermal keratinization by a protein isolated from the submaxillary gland of the mouse. J Invest Dermatol 40, 1-5.
- Correia, A. L., and Bissell, M. J., 2012. The tumor microenvironment is a dominant force in multidrug resistance. Drug Resist Updat 15, 39-49.
- Courcelles, M., Fremin, C., Voisin, L., Lemieux, S., Meloche, S., and Thibault, P., 2013. Phosphoproteome dynamics reveal novel ERK1/2 MAP kinase substrates with broad spectrum of functions. Mol Syst Biol 9, 669.
- Dai, G., Levy, O., and Carrasco, N., 1996. Cloning and characterization of the thyroid iodide transporter. Nature 379, 458-460.
- Damante, G., and Di Lauro, R., 1994. Thyroid-specific gene expression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1218, 255-266.
- Davies, H., Bignell, G. R., Cox, C., Stephens, P., Edkins, S., Clegg, S., Teague, J., Woffendin, H., Garnett, M. J., Bottomley, W., *et al.*, 2002. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417, 949-954.
- De Deken, X., Wang, D., Dumont, J. E., and Miot, F., 2002. Characterization of ThOX proteins as components of the thyroid H(2)O(2)-generating system. Exp Cell Res 273, 187-196.
- de Martin, R., Haendler, B., Hofer-Warbinek, R., Gaugitsch, H., Wrann, M., Schlusener, H., Seifert, J. M., Bodmer, S., Fontana, A., and Hofer, E., 1987. Complementary DNA for human glioblastoma-derived T cell suppressor factor, a novel member of the transforming growth factor-beta gene family. EMBO J 6, 3673-3677.
- Deleu, S., Pirson, I., Coulonval, K., Drouin, A., Taton, M., Clermont, F., Roger, P. P., Nakamura, T., Dumont, J. E., and Maenhaut, C., 1999. IGF-1 or insulin, and the TSH cyclic AMP cascade separately control dog and human thyroid cell growth and DNA synthesis, and complement each other in inducing mitogenesis. Mol Cell Endocrinol 149, 41-51.
- Denef, J. F., Bjorkman, U., and Ekholm, R., 1980. Structural and functional characteristics of isolated thyroid follicles. J Ultrastruct Res 71, 185-202.
- Derynck, R., Jarrett, J. A., Chen, E. Y., Eaton, D. H., Bell, J. R., Assoian, R. K., Roberts, A. B., Sporn, M. B., and Goeddel, D. V., 1985. Human transforming growth factor-beta complementary DNA sequence and expression in normal and transformed cells. Nature 316, 701-705.
- Derynck, R., Lindquist, P. B., Lee, A., Wen, D., Tamm, J., Graycar, J. L., Rhee, L., Mason, A. J., Miller, D. A., Coffey, R. J., and et al., 1988. A new type of transforming growth factor-beta, TGF-beta 3. EMBO J 7, 3737-3743.
- Di Cosmo, C., Liao, X. H., Dumitrescu, A. M., Philp, N. J., Weiss, R. E., and Refetoff, S., 2010. Mice deficient in MCT8 reveal a mechanism regulating thyroid hormone secretion. J Clin Invest 120, 3377-3388.
- Dohan, O., Portulano, C., Basquin, C., Reyna-Neyra, A., Amzel, L. M., and Carrasco, N., 2007. The Na+/I symporter (NIS) mediates electroneutral active transport of the environmental pollutant perchlorate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 20250-20255.
- Dom, G., Galdo, V. C., Tarabichi, M., Tomas, G., Hebrant, A., Andry, G., De Martelar, V., Libert, F., Leteurtre, E., Dumont, J. E., *et al.*, 2013. 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine has minor effects on differentiation in human thyroid cancer cell lines, but modulates genes that are involved in adaptation in vitro. Thyroid 23, 317-328.
- Dremier, S., Coulonval, K., Perpete, S., Vandeput, F., Fortemaison, N., Van Keymeulen, A., Deleu, S., Ledent, C., Clement, S., Schurmans, S., *et al.*, 2002. The role of cyclic AMP and its effect on protein kinase A in the mitogenic action of thyrotropin on the thyroid cell. Ann N Y Acad Sci 968, 106-121.

- Dumont, J. E., Lamy, F., Roger, P., and Maenhaut, C., 1992. Physiological and pathological regulation of thyroid cell proliferation and differentiation by thyrotropin and other factors. Physiol Rev 72, 667-697.
- Dumont, J. E., Willems, C., Van Sande, J., and Neve, P., 1971. Regulation of the release of thyroid hormones: role of cyclic AMP. Ann N Y Acad Sci 185, 291-316.
- Dunn, J. T., and Dunn, A. D., 2001. Update on intrathyroidal iodine metabolism. Thyroid 11, 407-414.
- Dupuy, C., Virion, A., Ohayon, R., Kaniewski, J., Deme, D., and Pommier, J., 1991. Mechanism of hydrogen peroxide formation catalyzed by NADPH oxidase in thyroid plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 266, 3739-3743.
- Durante, C., Puxeddu, E., Ferretti, E., Morisi, R., Moretti, S., Bruno, R., Barbi, F., Avenia, N., Scipioni, A., Verrienti, A., *et al.*, 2007. BRAF mutations in papillary thyroid carcinomas inhibit genes involved in iodine metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92, 2840-2843.
- Ebnet, K., Schulz, C. U., Meyer Zu Brickwedde, M. K., Pendl, G. G., and Vestweber, D., 2000. Junctional adhesion molecule interacts with the PDZ domain-containing proteins AF-6 and ZO-1. J Biol Chem 275, 27979-27988.
- Ekholm, R., 1981. Iodination of thyroglobulin. An intracellular or extracellular process? Mol Cell Endocrinol 24, 141-163.
- Ekholm, R., 1990. Biosynthesis of thyroid hormones. Int Rev Cytol 120, 243-288.
- Ekholm, R., and Bjorkman, U., 1997. Glutathione peroxidase degrades intracellular hydrogen peroxide and thereby inhibits intracellular protein iodination in thyroid epithelium. Endocrinology 138, 2871-2878.
- Ekholm, R., and Wollman, S. H., 1975. Site of iodination in the rat thyroid gland deduced from electron microscopic autoradiographs. Endocrinology 97, 1432-1444.
- Elsdale, T., and Bard, J., 1972. Collagen substrata for studies on cell behavior. J Cell Biol 54, 626-637.
- Ericson, L. E., 1981. Exocytosis and endocytosis in the thyroid follicle cell. Mol Cell Endocrinol 22, 1-24.
- Ericson, L. E., and Nilsson, M., 1996. Effects of insulin-like growth factor I on growth, epithelial barrier and iodide transport in polarized pig thyrocyte monolayers. Eur J Endocrinol 135, 118-127.
- Eskandari, S., Loo, D. D., Dai, G., Levy, O., Wright, E. M., and Carrasco, N., 1997. Thyroid Na+/I- symporter. Mechanism, stoichiometry, and specificity. J Biol Chem 272, 27230-27238.
- Fanning, A. S., Jameson, B. J., Jesaitis, L. A., and Anderson, J. M., 1998. The tight junction protein ZO-1 establishes a link between the transmembrane protein occludin and the actin cytoskeleton. J Biol Chem 273, 29745-29753.
- Farquhar, M. G., and Palade, G. E., 1963. Junctional complexes in various epithelia. J Cell Biol 17, 375-412.
- Favata, M. F., Horiuchi, K. Y., Manos, E. J., Daulerio, A. J., Stradley, D. A., Feeser, W. S., Van Dyk, D. E., Pitts, W. J., Earl, R. A., Hobbs, F., *et al.*, 1998. Identification of a novel inhibitor of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase. J Biol Chem 273, 18623-18632.
- Fremin, C., and Meloche, S., 2010. From basic research to clinical development of MEK1/2 inhibitors for cancer therapy. J Hematol Oncol 3, 8.
- Friesema, E. C., Ganguly, S., Abdalla, A., Manning Fox, J. E., Halestrap, A. P., and Visser, T. J., 2003. Identification of monocarboxylate transporter 8 as a specific thyroid hormone transporter. J Biol Chem 278, 40128-40135.

- Furuse, M., Fujita, K., Hiiragi, T., Fujimoto, K., and Tsukita, S., 1998. Claudin-1 and -2: novel integral membrane proteins localizing at tight junctions with no sequence similarity to occludin. J Cell Biol 141, 1539-1550.
- Furuse, M., Furuse, K., Sasaki, H., and Tsukita, S., 2001. Conversion of zonulae occludentes from tight to leaky strand type by introducing claudin-2 into Madin-Darby canine kidney I cells. J Cell Biol 153, 263-272.
- Furuse, M., Hata, M., Furuse, K., Yoshida, Y., Haratake, A., Sugitani, Y., Noda, T., Kubo, A., and Tsukita, S., 2002. Claudin-based tight junctions are crucial for the mammalian epidermal barrier: a lesson from claudin-1-deficient mice. J Cell Biol 156, 1099-1111.
- Furuse, M., Hirase, T., Itoh, M., Nagafuchi, A., Yonemura, S., and Tsukita, S., 1993. Occludin: a novel integral membrane protein localizing at tight junctions. J Cell Biol 123, 1777-1788.
- Fusco, A., and Santoro, M., 2007. 20 years of RET/PTC in thyroid cancer: clinicopathological correlations. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol 51, 731-735.
- Garbi, C., Nitsch, L., and Wollman, S. H., 1984. Embedding in a collagen gel stabilizes the polarity of epithelial cells in thyroid follicles in suspension culture. Exp Cell Res 151, 458-465.
- Garrod, D., and Chidgey, M., 2008. Desmosome structure, composition and function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1778, 572-587.
- Gartner, R., Greil, W., Demharter, R., and Horn, K., 1985. Involvement of cyclic AMP, iodide and metabolites of arachidonic acid in the regulation of cell proliferation of isolated porcine thyroid follicles. Mol Cell Endocrinol 42, 145-155.
- Gerard, C., Gabrion, J., Verrier, B., Reggio, H., and Mauchamp, J., 1985. Localization of the Na+/K+-ATPase and of an amiloride sensitive Na+ uptake on thyroid epithelial cells. Eur J Cell Biol 38, 134-141.
- Gharbi, S. I., Zvelebil, M. J., Shuttleworth, S. J., Hancox, T., Saghir, N., Timms, J. F., and Waterfield, M. D., 2007. Exploring the specificity of the PI3K family inhibitor LY294002. Biochem J 404, 15-21.
- Gonzalez-Mariscal, L., Betanzos, A., Nava, P., and Jaramillo, B. E., 2003. Tight junction proteins. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 81, 1-44.
- Grande, M., Franzen, A., Karlsson, J. O., Ericson, L. E., Heldin, N. E., and Nilsson, M., 2002. Transforming growth factor-beta and epidermal growth factor synergistically stimulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) through a MEK-dependent mechanism in primary cultured pig thyrocytes. J Cell Sci 115, 4227-4236.
- Gunzel, D., and Fromm, M., 2012. Claudins and other tight junction proteins. Compr Physiol 2, 1819-1852.
- Halmi, N. S., 1954. Thyroidal iodide trapping as influenced by serum iodide levels and thyrotrophin. Endocrinology 54, 97-103.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A., 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A., 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144, 646-674.
- Haskins, J., Gu, L., Wittchen, E. S., Hibbard, J., and Stevenson, B. R., 1998. ZO-3, a novel member of the MAGUK protein family found at the tight junction, interacts with ZO-1 and occludin. J Cell Biol 141, 199-208.
- Hebrant, A., van Staveren, W. C., Delys, L., Solis, D. W., Bogdanova, T., Andry, G., Roger, P., Dumont, J. E., Libert, F., and Maenhaut, C., 2007. Long-term EGF/serum-treated human thyrocytes mimic papillary thyroid carcinomas with regard to gene expression. Exp Cell Res 313, 3276-3284.
- Heldin, C. H., Miyazono, K., and ten Dijke, P., 1997. TGF-beta signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins. Nature 390, 465-471.

- Heldin, C. H., Vanlandewijck, M., and Moustakas, A., 2012. Regulation of EMT by TGFbeta in cancer. FEBS Lett 586, 1959-1970.
- Helmbrecht, K., Kispert, A., von Wasielewski, R., and Brabant, G., 2001. Identification of a Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway in human thyroid cells. Endocrinology 142, 5261-5266.
- Hou, P., Bojdani, E., and Xing, M., 2010. Induction of thyroid gene expression and radioiodine uptake in thyroid cancer cells by targeting major signaling pathways. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95, 820-828.
- Hou, P., Ji, M., and Xing, M., 2008. Association of PTEN gene methylation with genetic alterations in the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT signaling pathway in thyroid tumors. Cancer 113, 2440-2447.
- Howlader N, N. A., Krapcho M, Neyman N, Aminou R, Waldron W, Altekruse SF, Kosary CL, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Cho H, Mariotto A, Eisner MP, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds, 2012. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2009 (Vintage 2009 Populations) http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2009\_pops09/, based on November 2011 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2012.
- Inman, G. J., 2011. Switching TGFbeta from a tumor suppressor to a tumor promoter. Curr Opin Genet Dev 21, 93-99.
- Itoh, M., Furuse, M., Morita, K., Kubota, K., Saitou, M., and Tsukita, S., 1999. Direct binding of three tight junction-associated MAGUKs, ZO-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3, with the COOH termini of claudins. J Cell Biol 147, 1351-1363.
- Itoh, M., Nagafuchi, A., Moroi, S., and Tsukita, S., 1997. Involvement of ZO-1 in cadherinbased cell adhesion through its direct binding to alpha catenin and actin filaments. J Cell Biol 138, 181-192.
- Jesaitis, L. A., and Goodenough, D. A., 1994. Molecular characterization and tissue distribution of ZO-2, a tight junction protein homologous to ZO-1 and the Drosophila discs-large tumor suppressor protein. J Cell Biol 124, 949-961.
- Jhiang, S. M., Cho, J. Y., Furminger, T. L., Sagartz, J. E., Tong, Q., Capen, C. C., and Mazzaferri, E. L., 1998. Thyroid carcinomas in RET/PTC transgenic mice. Recent Results Cancer Res 154, 265-270.
- Jhon, D. Y., Lee, H. H., Park, D., Lee, C. W., Lee, K. H., Yoo, O. J., and Rhee, S. G., 1993. Cloning, sequencing, purification, and Gq-dependent activation of phospholipase Cbeta 3. J Biol Chem 268, 6654-6661.
- Kalluri, R., and Weinberg, R. A., 2009. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 119, 1420-1428.
- Kasai, K., Ohmori, T., Koizumi, N., Hosoya, T., Hiraiwa, M., Emoto, T., Hattori, Y., and Shimoda, S., 1989. Regulation of thyroid peroxidase activity by thyrotropin, epidermal growth factor and phorbol ester in porcine thyroid follicles cultured in suspension. Life Sci 45, 1451-1459.
- Kim, C. S., and Zhu, X., 2009. Lessons from mouse models of thyroid cancer. Thyroid 19, 1317-1331.
- Kim, E., Niethammer, M., Rothschild, A., Jan, Y. N., and Sheng, M., 1995. Clustering of Shaker-type K+ channels by interaction with a family of membrane-associated guanylate kinases. Nature 378, 85-88.
- Kim, H., Lee, T. H., Park, E. S., Suh, J. M., Park, S. J., Chung, H. K., Kwon, O. Y., Kim, Y. K., Ro, H. K., and Shong, M., 2000. Role of peroxiredoxins in regulating intracellular hydrogen peroxide and hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis in thyroid cells. J Biol Chem 275, 18266-18270.
- Kim, K. B., Cabanillas, M. E., Lazar, A. J., Williams, M. D., Sanders, D. L., Ilagan, J. L., Nolop, K., Lee, R. J., and Sherman, S. I., 2013. Clinical responses to vemurafenib in

patients with metastatic papillary thyroid cancer harboring BRAF(V600E) mutation. Thyroid 23, 1277-1283.

- Kimura, T., Van Keymeulen, A., Golstein, J., Fusco, A., Dumont, J. E., and Roger, P. P., 2001. Regulation of thyroid cell proliferation by TSH and other factors: a critical evaluation of in vitro models. Endocr Rev 22, 631-656.
- Kitahori, Y., Hiasa, Y., Katoh, Y., Konishi, N., Ohshima, M., Hashimoto, H., Minami, S., and Sakaguchi, Y., 1988. Promotive effect of 4,4'-methylenebis(N,Ndimethyl)benzenamine on N-bis(2-hydroxypropyl)nitrosamine-induced thyroid tumors in Wistar rats. Cancer Lett 40, 275-281.
- Knauf, J. A., 2011. Does the epidermal growth factor receptor play a role in the progression of thyroid cancer? Thyroid 21, 1171-1174.
- Knauf, J. A., Ma, X., Smith, E. P., Zhang, L., Mitsutake, N., Liao, X. H., Refetoff, S., Nikiforov, Y. E., and Fagin, J. A., 2005. Targeted expression of BRAFV600E in thyroid cells of transgenic mice results in papillary thyroid cancers that undergo dedifferentiation. Cancer Res 65, 4238-4245.
- Kroll, T. G., Sarraf, P., Pecciarini, L., Chen, C. J., Mueller, E., Spiegelman, B. M., and Fletcher, J. A., 2000. PAX8-PPARgamma1 fusion oncogene in human thyroid carcinoma [corrected]. Science 289, 1357-1360.
- Landriscina, M., Pannone, G., Piscazzi, A., Toti, P., Fabiano, A., Tortorella, S., Occhini, R., Ambrosi, A., Bufo, P., and Cignarelli, M., 2011. Epidermal growth factor receptor 1 expression is upregulated in undifferentiated thyroid carcinomas in humans. Thyroid 21, 1227-1234.
- Larsson, F., Fagman, H., and Nilsson, M., 2004. TSH receptor signaling via cyclic AMP inhibits cell surface degradation and internalization of E-cadherin in pig thyroid epithelium. Cell Mol Life Sci 61, 1834-1842.
- Ledent, C., Dumont, J., Vassart, G., and Parmentier, M., 1991. Thyroid adenocarcinomas secondary to tissue-specific expression of simian virus-40 large T-antigen in transgenic mice. Endocrinology 129, 1391-1401.
- Ledent, C., Marcotte, A., Dumont, J. E., Vassart, G., and Parmentier, M., 1995. Differentiated carcinomas develop as a consequence of the thyroid specific expression of a thyroglobulin-human papillomavirus type 16 E7 transgene. Oncogene 10, 1789-1797.
- Ledent, C., Parmentier, M., Vassart, G., and Dumont, J. E., 1994. Models of thyroid goiter and tumors in transgenic mice. Mol Cell Endocrinol 100, 167-169.
- Lee, C. K., Brown, C., Gralla, R. J., Hirsh, V., Thongprasert, S., Tsai, C. M., Tan, E. H., Ho, J. C., Chu da, T., Zaatar, A., *et al.*, 2013. Impact of EGFR inhibitor in non-small cell lung cancer on progression-free and overall survival: a meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 105, 595-605.
- LeRoith, D., Werner, H., Beitner-Johnson, D., and Roberts, C. T., Jr., 1995. Molecular and cellular aspects of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. Endocr Rev 16, 143-163.
- Levy, O., Dai, G., Riedel, C., Ginter, C. S., Paul, E. M., Lebowitz, A. N., and Carrasco, N., 1997. Characterization of the thyroid Na+/I- symporter with an anti-COOH terminus antibody. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 5568-5573.
- Libert, F., Lefort, A., Gerard, C., Parmentier, M., Perret, J., Ludgate, M., Dumont, J. E., and Vassart, G., 1989. Cloning, sequencing and expression of the human thyrotropin (TSH) receptor: evidence for binding of autoantibodies. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 165, 1250-1255.
- Lito, P., Rosen, N., and Solit, D. B., 2013. Tumor adaptation and resistance to RAF inhibitors. Nat Med 19, 1401-1409.
- Liu, Z., Hou, P., Ji, M., Guan, H., Studeman, K., Jensen, K., Vasko, V., El-Naggar, A. K., and Xing, M., 2008. Highly prevalent genetic alterations in receptor tyrosine kinases and

phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/akt and mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in anaplastic and follicular thyroid cancers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93, 3106-3116.

- Livak, K. J., and Schmittgen, T. D., 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 25, 402-408.
- Lowenstein, E. J., Daly, R. J., Batzer, A. G., Li, W., Margolis, B., Lammers, R., Ullrich, A., Skolnik, E. Y., Bar-Sagi, D., and Schlessinger, J., 1992. The SH2 and SH3 domaincontaining protein GRB2 links receptor tyrosine kinases to ras signaling. Cell 70, 431-442.
- Maehama, T., and Dixon, J. E., 1998. The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. J Biol Chem 273, 13375-13378.
- Maher, G. J., Hilton, E. N., Urquhart, J. E., Davidson, A. E., Spencer, H. L., Black, G. C., and Manson, F. D., 2011. The cataract-associated protein TMEM114, and TMEM235, are glycosylated transmembrane proteins that are distinct from claudin family members. FEBS Lett 585, 2187-2192.
- Malaguarnera, R., Vella, V., Vigneri, R., and Frasca, F., 2007. p53 family proteins in thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 14, 43-60.
- Malehmir, M., Haghpanah, V., Larijani, B., Ahmadian, S., Alimoghaddam, K., Heshmat, R., Ghavamzadeh, A., Adabi, K., and Ghaffari, S. H., 2012. Multifaceted suppression of aggressive behavior of thyroid carcinoma by all-trans retinoic acid induced redifferentiation. Mol Cell Endocrinol 348, 260-269.
- Malumbres, M., and Barbacid, M., 2003. RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years. Nat Rev Cancer 3, 459-465.
- Markman, B., Dienstmann, R., and Tabernero, J., 2010. Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway--beyond rapalogs. Oncotarget 1, 530-543.
- Massague, J., 2000. How cells read TGF-beta signals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1, 169-178.
- Matallanas, D., Birtwistle, M., Romano, D., Zebisch, A., Rauch, J., von Kriegsheim, A., and Kolch, W., 2011. Raf family kinases: old dogs have learned new tricks. Genes Cancer 2, 232-260.
- Mian, C., Barollo, S., Pennelli, G., Pavan, N., Rugge, M., Pelizzo, M. R., Mazzarotto, R., Casara, D., Nacamulli, D., Mantero, F., *et al.*, 2008. Molecular characteristics in papillary thyroid cancers (PTCs) with no 1311 uptake. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 68, 108-116.
- Middleton, W. J., Engelhardt, V. A., and Fisher, B. S., 1958. Cyanocarbon Chemistry. VIII.1 Heterocyclic Compounds from Tetracyanoethylene. Journal of the American Chemical Society 80, 2822-2829.
- Mineta, K., Yamamoto, Y., Yamazaki, Y., Tanaka, H., Tada, Y., Saito, K., Tamura, A., Igarashi, M., Endo, T., Takeuchi, K., and Tsukita, S., 2011. Predicted expansion of the claudin multigene family. FEBS Lett 585, 606-612.
- Montero-Conde, C., Ruiz-Llorente, S., Dominguez, J. M., Knauf, J. A., Viale, A., Sherman, E. J., Ryder, M., Ghossein, R. A., Rosen, N., and Fagin, J. A., 2013. Relief of feedback inhibition of HER3 transcription by RAF and MEK inhibitors attenuates their antitumor effects in BRAF-mutant thyroid carcinomas. Cancer Discov 3, 520-533.
- Nikiforov, Y. E., Rowland, J. M., Bove, K. E., Monforte-Munoz, H., and Fagin, J. A., 1997. Distinct pattern of ret oncogene rearrangements in morphological variants of radiation-induced and sporadic thyroid papillary carcinomas in children. Cancer Res 57, 1690-1694.

- Nikiforova, M. N., Kimura, E. T., Gandhi, M., Biddinger, P. W., Knauf, J. A., Basolo, F., Zhu, Z., Giannini, R., Salvatore, G., Fusco, A., *et al.*, 2003. BRAF mutations in thyroid tumors are restricted to papillary carcinomas and anaplastic or poorly differentiated carcinomas arising from papillary carcinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88, 5399-5404.
- Nilsson, M., Bjorkman, U., Ekholm, R., and Ericson, L. E., 1990. Iodide transport in primary cultured thyroid follicle cells: evidence of a TSH-regulated channel mediating iodide efflux selectively across the apical domain of the plasma membrane. Eur J Cell Biol 52, 270-281.
- Nilsson, M., Dahlman, T., Westermark, B., and Westermark, K., 1995. Transforming growth factor-beta promotes epidermal growth factor-induced thyroid cell migration and follicle neoformation in collagen gel separable from cell proliferation. Exp Cell Res 220, 257-265.
- Nilsson, M., and Ericson, L. E., 1994. Effects of epidermal growth factor on basolateral iodide uptake and apical iodide permeability in filter-cultured thyroid epithelium. Endocrinology 135, 1428-1436.
- Nilsson, M., Molne, J., and Ericson, L. E., 1991. Integrity of the occluding barrier in highresistant thyroid follicular epithelium in culture. II. Immediate protective effect of TSH on paracellular leakage induced by Ca2+ removal and cytochalasin B. Eur J Cell Biol 56, 308-318.
- Nollet, F., Kools, P., and van Roy, F., 2000. Phylogenetic analysis of the cadherin superfamily allows identification of six major subfamilies besides several solitary members. J Mol Biol 299, 551-572.
- Norden, M. M., Larsson, F., Tedelind, S., Carlsson, T., Lundh, C., Forssell-Aronsson, E., and Nilsson, M., 2007. Down-regulation of the sodium/iodide symporter explains 1311induced thyroid stunning. Cancer Res 67, 7512-7517.
- Ock, S., Ahn, J., Lee, S. H., Kang, H., Offermanns, S., Ahn, H. Y., Jo, Y. S., Shong, M., Cho, B. Y., Jo, D., *et al.*, 2013. IGF-1 receptor deficiency in thyrocytes impairs thyroid hormone secretion and completely inhibits TSH-stimulated goiter. FASEB J.
- Ozawa, M., Baribault, H., and Kemler, R., 1989. The cytoplasmic domain of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin associates with three independent proteins structurally related in different species. EMBO J 8, 1711-1717.
- Paroder, V., Spencer, S. R., Paroder, M., Arango, D., Schwartz, S., Jr., Mariadason, J. M., Augenlicht, L. H., Eskandari, S., and Carrasco, N., 2006. Na(+)/monocarboxylate transport (SMCT) protein expression correlates with survival in colon cancer: molecular characterization of SMCT. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 7270-7275.
- Pedrinola, F., Rubio, I., Santos, C. L., and Medeiros-Neto, G., 2001. Overexpression of epidermal growth factor and epidermal growth factor-receptor mRNAs in dyshormonogenetic goiters. Thyroid 11, 15-20.
- Perron, B., Rodriguez, A. M., Leblanc, G., and Pourcher, T., 2001. Cloning of the mouse sodium iodide symporter and its expression in the mammary gland and other tissues. J Endocrinol 170, 185-196.
- Persani, L., 1998. Hypothalamic thyrotropin-releasing hormone and thyrotropin biological activity. Thyroid 8, 941-946.
- Pesce, L., Bizhanova, A., Caraballo, J. C., Westphal, W., Butti, M. L., Comellas, A., and Kopp, P., 2012. TSH regulates pendrin membrane abundance and enhances iodide efflux in thyroid cells. Endocrinology 153, 512-521.
- Pinke, L. A., Dean, D. S., Bergert, E. R., Spitzweg, C., Dutton, C. M., and Morris, J. C., 2001. Cloning of the mouse sodium iodide symporter. Thyroid 11, 935-939.

- Piontek, J., Winkler, L., Wolburg, H., Muller, S. L., Zuleger, N., Piehl, C., Wiesner, B., Krause, G., and Blasig, I. E., 2008. Formation of tight junction: determinants of homophilic interaction between classic claudins. FASEB J 22, 146-158.
- Pokutta, S., Herrenknecht, K., Kemler, R., and Engel, J., 1994. Conformational changes of the recombinant extracellular domain of E-cadherin upon calcium binding. Eur J Biochem 223, 1019-1026.
- Powell, D. J., Jr., Russell, J., Nibu, K., Li, G., Rhee, E., Liao, M., Goldstein, M., Keane, W. M., Santoro, M., Fusco, A., and Rothstein, J. L., 1998. The RET/PTC3 oncogene: metastatic solid-type papillary carcinomas in murine thyroids. Cancer Res 58, 5523-5528.
- Pratt, M. A., Eggo, M. C., Bachrach, L. K., Carayon, P., and Burrow, G. N., 1989. Regulation of thyroperoxidase, thyroglobulin and iodide levels in sheep thyroid cells by TSH, tumor promoters and epidermal growth factor. Biochimie 71, 227-235.
- Pritchard, A. L., and Hayward, N. K., 2013. Molecular pathways: mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway mutations and drug resistance. Clin Cancer Res 19, 2301-2309.
- Rajalingam, K., Schreck, R., Rapp, U. R., and Albert, S., 2007. Ras oncogenes and their downstream targets. Biochim Biophys Acta 1773, 1177-1195.
- Reynolds, A. B., Daniel, J., McCrea, P. D., Wheelock, M. J., Wu, J., and Zhang, Z., 1994. Identification of a new catenin: the tyrosine kinase substrate p120cas associates with E-cadherin complexes. Mol Cell Biol 14, 8333-8342.
- Ricarte-Filho, J. C., Matsuse, M., Lau, C., Ryder, M., Nishihara, E., Ghossein, R. A., Ladanyi, M., Yamashita, S., Mitsutake, N., and Fagin, J. A., 2012. Absence of common activating mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in thyroid cancers from American and Japanese patients. Int J Cancer 130, 2215-2217; author reply 2217-2218.
- Riesco-Eizaguirre, G., Rodriguez, I., De la Vieja, A., Costamagna, E., Carrasco, N., Nistal, M., and Santisteban, P., 2009. The BRAFV600E oncogene induces transforming growth factor beta secretion leading to sodium iodide symporter repression and increased malignancy in thyroid cancer. Cancer Res 69, 8317-8325.
- Riesco-Eizaguirre, G., and Santisteban, P., 2007. New insights in thyroid follicular cell biology and its impact in thyroid cancer therapy. Endocr Relat Cancer 14, 957-977.
- Rivard, N., 2009. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase: a key regulator in adherens junction formation and function. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 14, 510-522.
- Rodriguez-Boulan, E., and Nelson, W. J., 1989. Morphogenesis of the polarized epithelial cell phenotype. Science 245, 718-725.
- Rodriguez, A. M., Perron, B., Lacroix, L., Caillou, B., Leblanc, G., Schlumberger, M., Bidart, J. M., and Pourcher, T., 2002. Identification and characterization of a putative human iodide transporter located at the apical membrane of thyrocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87, 3500-3503.
- Roger, P., Taton, M., Van Sande, J., and Dumont, J. E., 1988. Mitogenic effects of thyrotropin and adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate in differentiated normal human thyroid cells in vitro. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 66, 1158-1165.
- Roger, P. P., Baptist, M., and Dumont, J. E., 1992. A mechanism generating heterogeneity in thyroid epithelial cells: suppression of the thyrotropin/cAMP-dependent mitogenic pathway after cell division induced by cAMP-independent factors. J Cell Biol 117, 383-393.
- Roger, P. P., Van Heuverswyn, B., Lambert, C., Reuse, S., Vassart, G., and Dumont, J. E., 1985. Antagonistic effects of thyrotropin and epidermal growth factor on thyroglobulin mRNA level in cultured thyroid cells. Eur J Biochem 152, 239-245.

- Romagnoli, P., and Herzog, V., 1991. Transcytosis in thyroid follicle cells: regulation and implications for thyroglobulin transport. Exp Cell Res 194, 202-209.
- Romei, C., Ciampi, R., Faviana, P., Agate, L., Molinaro, E., Bottici, V., Basolo, F., Miccoli, P., Pacini, F., Pinchera, A., and Elisei, R., 2008. BRAFV600E mutation, but not RET/PTC rearrangements, is correlated with a lower expression of both thyroperoxidase and sodium iodide symporter genes in papillary thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 15, 511-520.
- Roskoski, R., Jr., 2012. ERK1/2 MAP kinases: structure, function, and regulation. Pharmacol Res 66, 105-143.
- Royaux, I. E., Suzuki, K., Mori, A., Katoh, R., Everett, L. A., Kohn, L. D., and Green, E. D., 2000. Pendrin, the protein encoded by the Pendred syndrome gene (PDS), is an apical porter of iodide in the thyroid and is regulated by thyroglobulin in FRTL-5 cells. Endocrinology 141, 839-845.
- Russo, M. A., Antico Arciuch, V. G., and Di Cristofano, A., 2011. Mouse models of follicular and papillary thyroid cancer progression. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2, 119.
- Saito, T., Endo, T., Kawaguchi, A., Ikeda, M., Nakazato, M., Kogai, T., and Onaya, T., 1997. Increased expression of the Na+/I- symporter in cultured human thyroid cells exposed to thyrotropin and in Graves' thyroid tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82, 3331-3336.
- Saitou, M., Furuse, M., Sasaki, H., Schulzke, J. D., Fromm, M., Takano, H., Noda, T., and Tsukita, S., 2000. Complex phenotype of mice lacking occludin, a component of tight junction strands. Mol Biol Cell 11, 4131-4142.
- Santoro, M., Chiappetta, G., Cerrato, A., Salvatore, D., Zhang, L., Manzo, G., Picone, A., Portella, G., Santelli, G., Vecchio, G., and Fusco, A., 1996. Development of thyroid papillary carcinomas secondary to tissue-specific expression of the RET/PTC1 oncogene in transgenic mice. Oncogene 12, 1821-1826.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Guertin, D. A., Ali, S. M., and Sabatini, D. M., 2005. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 307, 1098-1101.
- Sato, E., Nakashima, T., Miura, Y., Furuhashi, A., Nakayama, A., Mori, N., Murakami, H., Naganawa, S., and Tadokoro, M., 2001. Phenotypes associated with replacement of His by Arg in the Pendred syndrome gene. Eur J Endocrinol 145, 697-703.
- Schlumberger, M., Lacroix, L., Russo, D., Filetti, S., and Bidart, J. M., 2007. Defects in iodide metabolism in thyroid cancer and implications for the follow-up and treatment of patients. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 3, 260-269.
- Schmidt, A., Utepbergenov, D. I., Krause, G., and Blasig, I. E., 2001. Use of surface plasmon resonance for real-time analysis of the interaction of ZO-1 and occludin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288, 1194-1199.
- Schweppe, R. E., Klopper, J. P., Korch, C., Pugazhenthi, U., Benezra, M., Knauf, J. A., Fagin, J. A., Marlow, L. A., Copland, J. A., Smallridge, R. C., and Haugen, B. R., 2008. Deoxyribonucleic acid profiling analysis of 40 human thyroid cancer cell lines reveals cross-contamination resulting in cell line redundancy and misidentification. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93, 4331-4341.
- Selmi-Ruby, S., Watrin, C., Trouttet-Masson, S., Bernier-Valentin, F., Flachon, V., Munari-Silem, Y., and Rousset, B., 2003. The porcine sodium/iodide symporter gene exhibits an uncommon expression pattern related to the use of alternative splice sites not present in the human or murine species. Endocrinology 144, 1074-1085.
- Shapiro, L., Fannon, A. M., Kwong, P. D., Thompson, A., Lehmann, M. S., Grubel, G., Legrand, J. F., Als-Nielsen, J., Colman, D. R., and Hendrickson, W. A., 1995. Structural basis of cell-cell adhesion by cadherins. Nature 374, 327-337.
- Shewan, A., Eastburn, D. J., and Mostov, K., 2011. Phosphoinositides in cell architecture. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3, a004796.

- Sjolander, A., Yamamoto, K., Huber, B. E., and Lapetina, E. G., 1991. Association of p21ras with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88, 7908-7912.
- Smallridge, R. C., and Copland, J. A., 2010. Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: pathogenesis and emerging therapies. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 22, 486-497.
- Smanik, P. A., Liu, Q., Furminger, T. L., Ryu, K., Xing, S., Mazzaferri, E. L., and Jhiang, S. M., 1996. Cloning of the human sodium lodide symporter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 226, 339-345.
- Socialstyrelsen, 2013. Cancer i siffror.
- Song, Y., Massart, C., Chico-Galdo, V., Jin, L., De Maertelaer, V., Decoster, C., Dumont, J. E., and Van Sande, J., 2010. Species specific thyroid signal transduction: conserved physiology, divergent mechanisms. Mol Cell Endocrinol 319, 56-62.
- Stevenson, B. R., Siliciano, J. D., Mooseker, M. S., and Goodenough, D. A., 1986. Identification of ZO-1: a high molecular weight polypeptide associated with the tight junction (zonula occludens) in a variety of epithelia. J Cell Biol 103, 755-766.
- Takenaka, Y., Inohara, H., Yoshii, T., Oshima, K., Nakahara, S., Akahani, S., Honjo, Y., Yamamoto, Y., Raz, A., and Kubo, T., 2003. Malignant transformation of thyroid follicular cells by galectin-3. Cancer Lett 195, 111-119.
- Taton, M., Lamy, F., Roger, P. P., and Dumont, J. E., 1993. General inhibition by transforming growth factor beta 1 of thyrotropin and cAMP responses in human thyroid cells in primary culture. Mol Cell Endocrinol 95, 13-21.
- Tenbaum, S. P., Ordonez-Moran, P., Puig, I., Chicote, I., Arques, O., Landolfi, S., Fernandez, Y., Herance, J. R., Gispert, J. D., Mendizabal, L., *et al.*, 2012. beta-catenin confers resistance to PI3K and AKT inhibitors and subverts FOXO3a to promote metastasis in colon cancer. Nat Med 18, 892-901.
- Thiery, J. P., 2002. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 442-454.
- Tsai, J., Lee, J. T., Wang, W., Zhang, J., Cho, H., Mamo, S., Bremer, R., Gillette, S., Kong, J., Haass, N. K., *et al.*, 2008. Discovery of a selective inhibitor of oncogenic B-Raf kinase with potent antimelanoma activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 3041-3046.
- Tsukita, S., Katsuno, T., Yamazaki, Y., Umeda, K., and Tamura, A., 2009. Roles of ZO-1 and ZO-2 in establishment of the belt-like adherens and tight junctions with paracellular permselective barrier function. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1165, 44-52.
- Valenta, T., Hausmann, G., and Basler, K., 2012. The many faces and functions of betacatenin. EMBO J 31, 2714-2736.
- van Staveren, W. C., Solis, D. W., Delys, L., Duprez, L., Andry, G., Franc, B., Thomas, G., Libert, F., Dumont, J. E., Detours, V., and Maenhaut, C., 2007. Human thyroid tumor cell lines derived from different tumor types present a common dedifferentiated phenotype. Cancer Res 67, 8113-8120.
- Vanhaesebroeck, B., Stephens, L., and Hawkins, P., 2012. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13, 195-203.
- Waters, M. J., Tweedale, R. C., Whip, T. A., Shaw, G., Manley, S. W., and Bourke, J. R., 1987. Dedifferentiation of cultured thyroid cells by epidermal growth factor: some insights into the mechanism. Mol Cell Endocrinol 49, 109-117.
- Wellbrock, C., Karasarides, M., and Marais, R., 2004. The RAF proteins take centre stage. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5, 875-885.
- Venkataraman, G. M., Yatin, M., Marcinek, R., and Ain, K. B., 1999. Restoration of iodide uptake in dedifferentiated thyroid carcinoma: relationship to human Na+/I-symporter gene methylation status. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84, 2449-2457.

- Westermark, K., Nilsson, M., Ebendal, T., and Westermark, B., 1991. Thyrocyte migration and histiotypic follicle regeneration are promoted by epidermal growth factor in primary culture of thyroid follicles in collagen gel. Endocrinology 129, 2180-2186.
- Westermark, K., and Westermark, B., 1982. Mitogenic effect of epidermal growth factor on sheep thyroid cells in culture. Exp Cell Res 138, 47-55.
- Wittchen, E. S., Haskins, J., and Stevenson, B. R., 1999. Protein interactions at the tight junction. Actin has multiple binding partners, and ZO-1 forms independent complexes with ZO-2 and ZO-3. J Biol Chem 274, 35179-35185.
- Vivaldi, A., Miasaki, F. Y., Ciampi, R., Agate, L., Collecchi, P., Capodanno, A., Pinchera, A., and Elisei, R., 2009. Re-differentiation of thyroid carcinoma cell lines treated with 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine and retinoic acid. Mol Cell Endocrinol 307, 142-148.
- Vlahos, C. J., Matter, W. F., Hui, K. Y., and Brown, R. F., 1994. A specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one (LY294002). J Biol Chem 269, 5241-5248.
- Wolff, J., 1964. TRANSPORT OF IODIDE AND OTHER ANIONS IN THE THYROID GLAND. Physiol Rev 44, 45-90.
- Wollman, S. H., 1963. PRODUCTION AND PROPERTIES OF TRANSPLANTABLE TUMORS OF THE THYROID GLAND IN THE FISCHER RAT. Recent Prog Horm Res 19, 579-618.
- Wollman, S. H., and Reed, F. E., 1963. CLEARANCE OF BLOOD RADIOIODIDE BY TRANSPLANTABLE TUMORS OF THE THYROID GLAND IN THE UNANESTHETIZED RAT. J Natl Cancer Inst 31, 1479-1487.
- Wrana, J. L., Attisano, L., Wieser, R., Ventura, F., and Massague, J., 1994. Mechanism of activation of the TGF-beta receptor. Nature 370, 341-347.
- Wynford-Thomas, D., Stringer, B. M., and Williams, E. D., 1982. Dissociation of growth and function in the rat thyroid during prolonged goitrogen administration. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) 101, 210-216.
- Xing, M., 2013. Molecular pathogenesis and mechanisms of thyroid cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 13, 184-199.
- Xing, M., Westra, W. H., Tufano, R. P., Cohen, Y., Rosenbaum, E., Rhoden, K. J., Carson, K. A., Vasko, V., Larin, A., Tallini, G., *et al.*, 2005. BRAF mutation predicts a poorer clinical prognosis for papillary thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90, 6373-6379.
- Yang, S. H., Sharrocks, A. D., and Whitmarsh, A. J., 2013. MAP kinase signalling cascades and transcriptional regulation. Gene 513, 1-13.
- Yap, A. S., and Manley, S. W., 2001. Microtubule integrity is essential for apical polarization and epithelial morphogenesis in the thyroid. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 48, 201-212.
- Yarrow, J. C., Perlman, Z. E., Westwood, N. J., and Mitchison, T. J., 2004. A high-throughput cell migration assay using scratch wound healing, a comparison of image-based readout methods. BMC Biotechnol 4, 21.
- Yoon, S., and Seger, R., 2006. The extracellular signal-regulated kinase: multiple substrates regulate diverse cellular functions. Growth Factors 24, 21-44.
- Zannini, M., Avantaggiato, V., Biffali, E., Arnone, M. I., Sato, K., Pischetola, M., Taylor, B. A., Phillips, S. J., Simeone, A., and Di Lauro, R., 1997. TTF-2, a new forkhead protein, shows a temporal expression in the developing thyroid which is consistent with a role in controlling the onset of differentiation. EMBO J 16, 3185-3197.